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Statement of the Management of the Bank 

General information on AS “SEB Banka” 

AS “SEB banka” (the Bank) is a joint-stock company registered in the Republic of Latvia (registered office is: Meistaru 

Street 1, Valdlauči, Ķekava parish, Ķekava county, LV-1076, Latvia; uniform registration number: LV 40003151743; the 
credit institution operating licence issued on 23 September 1993, licence registry No. 06.01.05.011/242). The Bank and 

its subsidiaries (the Group) are engaged in providing banking and financial services. The parent company and the ultimate 

parent of the Bank is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB registered in Sweden.  

Corporate sustainability 

SEB Group has a far-fetching goal of promoting sustainable growth and bringing benefits to its customers, employees and 

society at large. We do everything possible to make sustainability an integral part of the company’s activity, and fully 

incorporate sustainability requirements in our daily operations. Organising work in a clear and efficient manner, through 

allocating the areas of responsibility, ensures sufficient awareness of the sustainability measures taken by SEB across all 
of the company’s structural units. High ethical standards, effective governance and appropriate accounting and reporting 

procedures underpin the Bank's sustainability initiatives and measures. SEB’s sustainability strategy rests on three main 

areas of responsibility: responsible business; people and society, including respecting of human rights and combating 

financial crimes; and the environment.  

The principles of corporate sustainability of AS “SEB banka” are fully aligned with the corporate sustainability policy of 

the whole SEB Group, the full content of which is available on SEB Group’s website (www.seb.com). 

Operating environment  

In 2018, the growth rate in Latvia was very good, it was driven by objective factors as well as luck, and was one of the 
fastest growth rates among the Member States of the European Union. The performance exceeded the forecasts made at 

the beginning of the year. 

The growth was fuelled by the construction sector, but not only: there have been positive surprises, e.g., in the service 

sector. The domestic demand has been growing steadily. Labour market improvements and wage rises contributed to the 
growth of private consumption. An increase in freight transport by rail and in ports supported the good performance 

indicators in the transport sector. Smart industries, such as programming, mechanical engineering, business services as 

well as the tourism industry have been growing at a good rate. Conversely, the overall industry growth rate was slower. 

To a great extent, this was due to the fall in production volumes in the food industry. 

At the same time, during 2018, the banking sector put in a great effort to give up a risky market segment – cease the 

provision of services to undesirable shell companies, which lead to a significant drop in the share of undesirable non-

resident deposits. 

Financial performance 

Given the development trends in the market, the performance of SEB banka in Latvia for 2018 was a consolidated profit 

of EUR 49 million, an increase of 19% compared with 2017; a higher net interest income (up by 2%) contributed to the 

positive performance. In 2018, due to the increase in the number and volume of financial risk hedging and foreign 

exchange transactions, income from financial transactions doubled. The increase in net profit was also due to the changes 
in the corporate income tax legislation, under which corporate profits are no longer subject to 15% tax. A tax liability of 

20% will arise in the year when the profit for 2018 is disbursed in dividends. The Group's administrative expenses 

remained at the 2017 level. In 2018, the consolidated profit before provisions amounted to EUR 53 million, an increase of 

7% compared with the previous year. In the reporting year, net losses related to provisions for loans amounted to 
EUR 3.8 million, i.e., doubled compared with the previous year. 

The capital adequacy ratio of SEB banka has been stable: at 31 December 2018, it was 18.72% (the Group: 17.54%), 

which was greater than the minimum required level of 8%, whereas the liquidity coverage ratio was 149% (the Group: 

162%), which was greater than the minimum required level of 100%. In 2018, the return on consolidated assets of SEB 
banka was 1.40%, and the return on capital was 12.67%.  

Major events in 2018 

2018 was the year of economic growth, improvement of efficiency and operational quality, which had a favourable impact 

on the mutual cooperation between SEB banka and its customers in the field of financial services. The bank has been 
actively supporting customers in the pursuit of their business and personal goals. During the year, SEB Group continued its 

successful cooperation in Latvia in the field of crediting with individuals and companies operating in the domestic as well 

as export markets, thus promoting economic development. During the reporting year, SEB banka issued financing of nearly 

EUR 1 billion in the form of various loans to over 4.5 thousand companies and 12.5 thousand individuals.  

Overall, EUR 774 million were issued in loans to companies and legal entities last year. Most of the loans were issued to 

energy supply, agriculture, manufacturing, real estate, and marketing sectors. In 2018, individuals maintained their 

interest in housing loans: in the reporting year, housing loans issued by SEB banka increased by 1.4% compared with 

2017. Overall, loans issued to individuals amounted to EUR 192 million, an increase of 3% compared with 2017. In 2018, 
SEB banka was the only bank that was issuing financing with the government guarantees for covering tuition fees. At the  
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

end of December 2018, the consolidated gross value of the loans issued by SEB banka was over EUR 3 billion, an increase 

of 11% during the year. 

In 2018, deposits from customers grew by 13% to EUR 2.7 billion. There is still a successful development in the alternative 
long-term investment services offered by the bank’s subsidiaries. 

During the year, SEB banka focused on the solutions enabling customers handling their private or corporate finances in an 

ever more convenient and advanced manner. The majority of SEB banka’s corporate customers connect to its online bank 

using the smartphone application Smart-ID. In order to facilitate the use of the internet banking facility, as of 2018, the 
latest version of the SEB banka’s mobile application for smartphones can be used by corporate representatives. The new 

version of SEB banka’s mobile application is already available in the App Store and Google Play application stores. 

Corporate representatives can use it to view the business account balances, create and approve payments, as well as 

browse the transaction history. In the near future, the range of services available in the application will be supplemented 
by new functionalities. 

In 2018, seeking to join forces with the fintech companies that have a clear plan of how to improve financial services, SEB 

Group established a new risk capital programme aimed at making investments in Latvian, Lithuanian and Estonian financial 

start-ups. 

In 2018, approaching the development of digitalisation with a view to facilitating the provision of financial services, SEB 

banka launched a mobile branch – a team of employees who, at the request of companies, are prepared to visit the 

locations where there are no branches of SEB banka in the vicinity and help the company’s employees resolve topical 

personal financial matters, as well as teach them to handle the matters remotely in the future. Several add-ons have been 
implemented in the mobile application.  

Customer service channels 

The Bank uses various channels to provide its services – through branches, by phone or Skype, through its internet bank, 

and mobile application. SEB banka has 22 branches and five financial advice centres. Ten of the branches are located in 
Riga, whereof six are located in shopping centres. On working days, the branches stay open after 5PM, they are also open 

on weekends. Outside Riga, there are 12 branches and five financial advice centres. There are six branches and two 

financial advice centres in the western region, and six branches and three advice centres in the eastern region. Being 

aware that customers are willing to receive services in the manner, time and place most convenient to them, in 2018, SEB 
banka improved the operation of its branch network. Eleven branches outside Riga region are open to customers three 

days a week, whereas twice a week, the bank provides remote services and consulting to customers. On Fridays, all the 

branches outside the Riga region are open from 9AM to 3PM, whereas once a week they are open from 8.30AM to 6.30PM. 

Currently, SEB banka operates 209 ATMs as part of its network, of which 68 are located in Riga and 141 ATMs are located 
outside the capital. In regions, 86 ATMs are available to customers for cash withdrawal and depositing transactions. 

The performance of SIA “SEB leasing” 

At the end of 2018, SEB līzings had a loan portfolio of EUR 338.9 million, which consisted of lease transactions (86%) and 

factoring transactions (14%). On the upside, the leasing and factoring portfolios grew during the reporting year. During 
the year, the factoring portfolio of SEB līzings increased by 20% to EUR 47.6 million, the leasing portfolio was 

EUR 291 million, up by 5% from the beginning of the year.  

The amount of new financing issued by SEB līzings continued to grow in 2018: the new financing issued since the beginning 

of the year amounted to EUR 127 million, down by 2% compared with the previous reporting period. Car leases accounted 
for the largest share of the issued new financing (53%), followed by commercial transport leases, agricultural and 

industrial machinery leases. In terms of the performance for 2018, the highest increase was observed in the machinery 

and industrial machinery segment (an increase of 26%). Whereas in terms of the total market for new cars, SEB līzings 

ranked No. 3 among the top providers of lease financing for the new cars sold in Latvia, having financed 2,633 new car 
purchases. Compared to the previous year, the financing for new car purchases provided by SEB līzings has remained 

unchanged – EUR 58 million. The amount of financing provided to individuals has increased by 11%, whereas that 

provided to legal entities decreased by 3% compared with the previous year. 

Performance of IP AS SEB Investment Management 

During the reporting year, the assets under management of the investment management joint stock company SEB 

Investment Management increased by nearly 8%, reaching EUR 1.390 billion at 31 December 2018. The year 2018 was 

a difficult year because the fluctuations in the global financial markets during the year had a negative effect on the return 

indicators of the managed 2nd and 3rd Pillar pension plans, and the portfolios of institutional clients. The Company's 
operating revenue from asset management was over EUR 3.4 million. At the end of the reporting year, the 2nd Pillar pension 

plan assets managed by the company amounted to EUR 863 million. The operational data show that in 2018, the number 

of participants of the 2nd Pillar pension plan assets managed by the company increased by approximately 6,700, to over 

295 thousand at the end of the year. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

Performance of AS “SEB atklātais pensiju fonds” 

In 2018, SEB Pensiju fonds continued to successfully develop and advertise the digital opportunities for the 3rd Pillar 

pension to enable customers to manage their 3rd Pillar pension account efficiently and simply. As the data of SEB Pensiju 
fonds suggest, in 2018, more than 56% of the new customers used the opportunity to enter into the agreement using the 

Bank’s internet bank (compared with only 31% in 2017). Owing to the increase in the number of its customers, in 2018, 

the volume of assets managed by SEB Pensiju fonds increased by 4% (EUR 5.5. million), whereas the total volume of assets 

of the 3rd Pillar pension reached EUR 155.6 million. Overall, 89 489 customers of the 3rd Pillar pension have entrusted 
their retirement capital to SEB Pensiju fonds. 

Given that the interest rates in financial markets had reached their historically lowest levels in 2018, the total pension 

investment returns for all pension plans were by EUR 11.7 million lower than in 2017. 

In 2018, the role of employers in building savings increased, as a result, 807 Latvian companies entrusted the private 
pension savings totalling EUR 56.5 million to SEB Pensiju fonds. 

Social responsibility 

In 2018, in cooperation with non-governmental organizations that help improve the living conditions of children and 

teenagers, SEB banka continued to support the projects aimed at developing the future generations.  

For more than 10 years, the Bank has been providing financial support to the Latvian SOS Children's Village Association 

that takes care of providing the family environment for children and young people without parental care. Thanks to the 

movement Plecs, supported by SEB banka from the moment of the foundation thereof a year ago, certain changes in the 

system, laws and society were achieved, as a result of which 400 out of 1,200 kids living in orphanages were admitted to 
families. 

To promote the engagement of the new generation in the development and implementation of ideas, in 2018, SEB banka 

continued to invest in the scholarship programmes implemented in cooperation with the Vītolu fonds and several 

universities. At present, the annual volume of scholarships has reached 40 thousand euros. 

SEB banka is willing to promote the development and growth opportunities in entrepreneurship, therefore it gets involved 

in the development of such projects, which not only lay a solid foundation for business, but also complement the knowledge 

of customers. For this reason, the Bank has established SEB Innovations Centre, where various educational events are held 

for customers and cooperation partners on a regular basis. In 2018, the second set of the Company Growth Programme 
was completed, during which five promising companies were equipped for a rapid business growth with the help of digital 

technologies and innovation. SEB banka's engaging in the grant programme (ie)dvesma, organised together with five 

Latvian municipalities, facilited the implementation of seven new and hopeful business ideas.  

In 2018, SEB banka also supported the activity of Sociālās uzņēmējdarbības asociācija as well as the social business 
incubator Labas gribas uzņēmējs. 

Awards 

SEB banka is truly pleased about the loyalty of its customers and the positive assessment of its services. In 2018, SEB 

banka received a number of international and national-level awards. The international financial magazine Global Finance 
names the best banks in Europe and other regions of the world; SEB banka was named the best bank in Latvia in 2018. 

Having assessed the providers of securities custody services in more than 80 countries, Global Finance named SEB banka 

the best provider of securities and custody services in Latvia, and for the 19th time - the best provider of online banking 

services for corporate as well as private customers. 

In 2018, SEB banka was also among the 38 companies of the Republic of Latvia to which the Ministry of Welfare awarded 

the status of the family-friendly merchant that adheres to family-friendly business principles in the daily work. In June, 

SEB banka received the Fair Trade Award of the Sustainability Index in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs for carrying on its 

business based on respect, fairness and sustainability and for building relationships with employees, suppliers and 
cooperation partners. At the closing ceremony held by the Sustainability Index, for the second consecutive year, SEB 

banka received the Platinum category of the Sustainability Index, which is the highest international company sustainability 

rating in terms of all aspects of corporate social responsibility.  

Future prospects 

In line with the global trends, the pace of economic development in Latvia might be slowing down a bit.  

Household consumption will be one of the most significant drivers. The circumstances are favourable owing to the 

improved labour market and wage rise. Furthermore, an important factor will be capital expenditure stimulated by the EU 

funds. The appetite on the part of entrepreneurs to engage in investing might decline slightly given the external 
circumstances and the growing costs of construction. Due to the global forces, the circumstances for growth in exports 

will be less favourable. 

In the forthcoming years, the focus will be on the construction sector, where we increasingly see the distinct signs of 

overheating. In 2018, we saw sustainable growth in information and communication services. The growth is expected to 
continue during 2019. The growing of the transport and warehousing sectors, which contributed to the growth, is a 

surprise to some degree, contrary to what was expected. The future developments are difficult to predict; they will largely  
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

depend on the policies implemented by Russia. Although household consumption has been growing at a relatively healthy 

pace, the rise in retail sales has been fairly modest, and mediocre growth is expected to continue. Similar trends are 

expected in other service, tourism, and entertainment sectors. Processing industry appears to be hopeful, which might be 
growing at a slow pace. Internal consumption will provide major support. In 2019, the GDP is forecast to grow at 3.5%. 

In the third quarter of 2018, the unemployment rate dropped to 7%. Meanwhile, the employment rate has reached a 

record high level of 65.3%. All factors indicate that unemployment will continue to shrink. The demand for labour will be 

very pronounced. In 2019, we expect to see the same structural problems, i.e., the supply of skills and knowledge will not 
meet those demanded by the labour market, and the impact of the regional aspect - high unemployment in certain 

locations. 

In order to achieve the long-term objectives, taking into consideration the expected economic development trends, SEB 

banka will continue to pursue its strategy, the priorities of which include a close cooperation with its customers, actions 
aimed at improving productivity and quality, a deeper integration of SEB, as well as a targeted development in the selected 

business areas, such as corporate banking, the provision of investment banking services, ensuring the Private banking 

service, asset management, and the development and ensuring of market attracted investments. 

SEB banka will continue to work on digital solutions and the automation of internal processes with a view to offering the 
best customer service and services to its customers. At the same time, the transparency of activity has always been and 

will be at the top of the priorities of SEB banka. 

SEB banka has always had the goal of being a leading bank, by offering top-notch financial services to its customers and 

acting in accordance with the SEB group's core values: Customers first, Commitment, Collaboration and Simplicity. 

 

The distribution of profits proposed by the management board 

The management board of AS “SEB banka” proposes to pay out the entire profit of The Bank for 2018 in dividends in 2019. 

 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all the customers and counterparties of SEB banka for cooperation and our 
staff – for their effort contributing to further development of the Bank. We also wish every success in future endeavours 

to all. 
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The Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank 

 

           Date of appointment 

The Supervisory Council 
 

Riho Unt Chairman of the Council Re-elected – 

08/06/2017 

Stefan Stignäs Deputy Chairman of the Council Re-elected – 

08/06/2017 

Erkka Näsäkkälä Member of the Council Elected – 

08/06/2017 

Mats Emil Torstendahl Member of the Council Elected – 

08/06/2017 

Aušra Matusevičiene Member of the Council Elected – 

08/06/2017 

Juha Lassi Johannes Kotajoki                  Member of the Council                                                                  Elected – 

02/07/2018 

Knut Jonas Martin Johansson Member of the Council Revoked as of 

02/07/2018 

The Board of Directors  
 

Ieva Tetere Chairperson of the Board / President Elected – 

03/07/2015 

Kārlis Danēvičs Member of the Board  Elected – 

14/01/2014 

Ints Krasts Member of the Board  Elected – 

01/08/2014 

Arnis Škapars Member of the Board   Elected – 

08/10/2015 

   

 

During 2018 there have been the following changes in the members of the Supervisory Council of AS “SEB banka”: 

 

By the decision of AS “SEB banka” sole shareholder Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB the member of the Council:  

Knut Jonas Martin Johansson have been revoked as of 02 July 2018. 

As of 02 July 2018 Juha Lassi Johannes Kotajoki  have been elected as new member of the Council. 

 
During 2018 there have not been any changes in the composition of the members of the Board of Directors of 

AS “SEB banka”. 
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Statement of Responsibility of the Management of the Bank 

 

 

The Board (the Management) of AS “SEB banka” (the Bank) is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group). 

 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 9 to 84 are prepared in accordance with the source documents and 

present fairly the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and the results of its operations and cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted in the European Union on a going concern basis. Appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent 
basis. Prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates have been made by the Management in the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

The Management of AS “SEB banka” is responsible for the maintenance of proper accounting records, the safeguarding of 
the Group’s assets and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities in the Group. They are also 

responsible for operating the Bank in compliance with the Law on Credit Institutions, regulations of the Bank of Latvia, the 

Financial and Capital Market Commission and other legislation of the Republic of Latvia applicable for credit institutions. 

 
The consolidated financial statements on pages 9 to 91 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors of the Bank and signed on their behalf by: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Ieva Tetere  Kārlis Danēvičs 

Chairperson of the Board / President  Member of the Board  

 

 
Riga, 

26 March 2019 
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Consolidated Income Statement 

(millions of EUR) 
 Notes  2018   20171)  

        

        

Interest income 5  67.5   67.1  

out of this income at effective interest rate   61.5   60.3  

Interest expense 5  -7.9   - 8.9  

Net interest income 5  59.6   58.2  

        

Fee and commission income 6  53.7   56.0  

Fee and commission expense 6  -17.5   - 17.8  

Net fee and commission income 6  36.2   38.2  

        

Net financial income 7  7.3   3.6  

        

Dividends    0.1   0.1  

Other operating income 8  3.3   3.0  

Net other income   3.4   3.1  

        

Personnel expenses 9  -25.6   - 25.0  

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of  

tangible and intangible assets 17,19 

 

-4.0   - 5.5  

Other expenses 10  -23.6   - 22.9  

Total operating expenses   -53.2   - 53.4  

        

Credit loss 11  -3.8   - 2.0  

        

Profit before income tax   49.5   47.7  

        

Income tax expenses 12  -0.7   - 6.7  

         

Net profit for the year   48.8    41.0  

        
1) Financial Statement’s Income Statement line items for 2017 are changed, please see Note 1.2 
 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 9 to 91 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors of the Bank and signed on their behalf by: 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Ieva Tetere  Kārlis Danēvičs 

Chairperson of the Board / President  Member of the Board  

 

 

Riga, 
26 March 2019 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 91 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

(millions of EUR) 
 

 2018   2017  

      

Net profit for the year 48.8   41.0  

      

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 

or loss:        

Available-for-sale investments:      

Gains less losses arising during the year from Visa 

Europe Ltd. shares -   1.1  
Net losses arising during the year from other 
available-for-sale securities -   - 0.2  

       

Total comprehensive income for the year 48.8   41.9  

 

 

 
The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 91 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

(millions of EUR) 

 Notes  31/12/2018  31/12/20171) 

Assets      

Cash and balances with central bank 13  350.1  570.1 

Receivables from credit institutions 14  58.5  126.9 
Loans to the public 14  2,957.9  2,637.3 

Securities designated at fair value through profit 

or loss  

 

-  287.1 

Debt securities 15  254.9  - 
Derivatives 16  34.0  23.2 

Investment securities available-for-sale   -  3.8 

Equity instruments 15  5.9  - 

Intangible assets 17  9.2  9.3 
Property, plant and equipment 18  8.8  9.0 

Current income tax assets   3.1  - 

Other financial assets 20  29.7  10.8 

Other non-financial assets 20  6.5  10.6 

Total assets   3,718.6  3,688.1 

      

Liabilities      

Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions 21 

 
546.7 

 
836.8 

Deposits and borrowings from the public 22  2,694.5  2,374.2 

Derivatives 15  34.1  23.1 

Current income tax liability   -  0.3 
Deferred income tax liability   0.7  - 

Provisions 19  3.0   2.3 

Other financial liabilities 20  43.5  38.7 

Other non-financial liabilities 20  9.0  8.8 

Total liabilities   3,331.5  3,284.2 

      

Equity      

Capital and reserves attributable to the equity holders     

Share capital 23  145.3  145.3 

Share premium   5.1  5.1 

Revaluation result on investment securities 
available-for-sale  

 
 

 
-  0.6 

Other reserves   0.6  0.6 

Retained earnings   236.1  252.3 

Total equity   387.1  403.9 

       

Total liabilities and equity   3,718.6  3,688.1 

      
1) Financial Statement’s Statement of Financial Position line items for 31/12/2017 are changed, please see Note 1.2 
 
The consolidated financial statements on pages 9 to 91 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors of the Bank and signed on their behalf by: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Ieva Tetere  Kārlis Danēvičs 

Chairperson of the Board / President  Member of the Board  

 

Riga, 
26 March 2019 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 91 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in the Equity  

(millions of EUR) 
 

 

Paid-in 

share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Other 

reserves 

Revaluation 

reserve on 
investment 

securities 

available-

for-sale  

Retained 

earnings TOTAL 

       

Balance at 31 December 2016 145.3 5.1 0.7 - 0.2 283.2 434.1 

Profit for the year - - - - 41.0 41.0 

Other comprehensive income - - - 0.8 - 0.8 

Total comprehensive income for the 

year - - - 0.8 41.0 41.8 

Dividends (Note 23) - - - - - 72.3 - 72.3 

Share-based compensation - - 0.3 - - 0.3 

Realisation of share-based 

compensation - - - 0.4 - 0.4 - 

Balance at 31 December 2017 145.3 5.1 0.6 0.6 252.3 403.9 

Effect of applying IFRS 9 - - - -0.6 5.6 5.0 

Restated balance at 1 January 2018 145.3 5.1 0.6 - 257.9 408.9 

Profit for the year - - - - 48.8 48.8 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year - - - - 48.8 48.8 

Dividend (Note 23) - - - - -70.9 -70.9 

Share-based compensation - - 0.3 - - 0.3 

Realisation of share-based 
compensation - - -0.3 - 0.3 - 

Balance at 31 December 2018 145.3 5.1 0.6 - 236.1 387.1 

 
 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 91 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

(millions of EUR) 
 

 Notes 2018  2017 

     
Cash flows from operating activities     

Profit before income tax   49.5  47.7 

Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and 

property and equipment  3.8  3.9 
Increase in allowances for loan impairment  3.8  2.0 

Interest income on loans  -66.2  - 58.1 

Interest expense on customer and bank deposits  1.3  1.4 

(Profit) / loss from revaluation of foreign currency  1.9  - 6.4 
Loss from disposal of tangible property and equipment   0.1  1.8 

Increase in share based compensations  0.3  0.3 

(Increase) / decrease in other assets   -6.1  5.0 

Increase in other liabilities  4.2  22.7 

Increase / (decrease)  in cash and cash equivalents from 
operating activities  before changes in assets and liabilities  -7.4  20.3 

     

(Increase) / decrease of securities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss  32.5  - 36.4 
(Increase) / decrease in balances due from banks  7.0  - 7.1 

Increase in loans and advances to customers  -318.8  - 163.4 

Increase / (decrease) in balances due to banks  -290.0  155.0 

Increase in deposits due to customers  320.2  126.5 

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from 
operating activities before income taxes  -256.5  94.9 

     

Interest received from loans issued  67.0  56.4 

Interest paid on customer and bank deposits  -1.3  - 1.4 
Income tax paid  -3.4  - 10.4 

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities  -194.2  139.5 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of property and equipment   -3.8  - 1.7 
Sale of property and equipment   0.1  - 

Decrease in investment securities available-for-sale   -  0.2 

Increase in investment securities  -10.8  - 

Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities  -14.5  - 1.5 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Dividends paid out  -70.9  - 72.3 

Net cash used in financing activities  -70.9  - 72.3 

     

Net cash inflow / (outflow) for the year  -279.6  65.7 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 26 689.1  617.0 

     
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  -1.9  6.4 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 26 407.6  689.1 

     

 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 90 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Figures in brackets represent the data as at 31 December 2017 unless stated otherwise)  

 

Corporate information  

AS “SEB banka” (the Bank) is a joint-stock company incorporated in the Republic of Latvia, Meistaru street 1, Valdlauči, 

Ķekava parish, Ķekava region, LV-1076. The Bank is registered in Commercial Register with common registration number 

LV 40003151743.The Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) are engaged in banking and financial services business. As 

of 31 December 2018 the Bank holds investments in the following subsidiaries:  

Company name Registry code Address Activity 

Holding (%) Investment 

value 

31/12/2018 

EUR mil. 

      

SIA “SEB līzings” 50003334041 

SEB finanšu centrs, Meistaru 

street 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas 

parish, Ķekavas region, LV-
1076 

Leasing and 

factoring 
activities 

 

 

 
100 

 

 

 
3.8 

    
  

IP AS “SEB Investment 

Management” 40003525797 

Antonijas street 9-12, Riga, 

LV-1010 

Investment 
and pension 

fund 

management 

 
 

 

100 

 
 

 

0.6 

      

AS “SEB atklātais pensiju 

fonds” 40003485047 

Antonijas street 9-12, Riga, 

LV-1010 Pension fund 

 

100 

 

0.6 

The sole shareholder of the Bank is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), who is also the ultimate controlling party, 

registered in Sweden. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been approved by the Management 
Board on 26 March 2019 and are subject to approval by the ultimate shareholder. 

 

1. Significant accounting policies 

 
1.1. Statement of compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements of AS “SEB banka” Group (the Group) are prepared in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 
 

1.2. Basis of preparation 

 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis, except for the certain financial assets and 
liabilities (including derivative instruments) measured at fair value. The accounting policies used in the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 are consistent with those used in the annual 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, with exception to changes mentioned in Note 

1.24. As well as 1) split of Balance sheet item Other assets into items Other financial assets and Other non-financial assets; 
2) split of Balance sheet item Other liabilities into items Provisions, Other financial liabilities and Other non-financial 

liabilities; 3) merger of Statement of Profit or Loss items Net gain from sale of securities, Net gain (loss) from revaluation 

of securities, Net gain from currency exchange, Net gain (loss) from revaluation of foreign currency positions and Net gain 

(loss) from financial derivatives into item Net financial income; 4) merger of Statement of Profit or Loss items Net gain  
(loss) from repossessed collateral, Other operating income and Other operating expenses into item Other operating 

income; 5) split of Statement of Profit or Loss item Administrative expenses into items Personnel expenses and Other 

expenses; 6) merger of Statement of Profit or Loss items Allowances for loan impairment and Release of previously 

established allowances and recoveries of write-offs into item Credit loss. 
 

 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euro unless indicated otherwise. As previously 

consolidated financial statements were presented in thousands of euro and this is the first year when consolidated 
financial statements are presented in millions of euro, comparative information has been restated in order to ensure 

comparability.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.3. Consolidation 

 

The subsidiaries being consolidated are listed under section “Corporate Information”. Investments in subsidiaries and 

associates in the Bank’s standalone financial statements (see Note 40) are accounted for using the cost method less 
impairment and are initially recognized at cost. 

 

1.3.1. Subsidiaries 

 
These consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries. 

 

Subsidiaries are companies, over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 

rights to, variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the returns. 
Control is deemed to exist when the parent company (i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investee that 

significantly affect their returns, (ii) has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investees, 

and (iii) has the ability to use its power over the investees to affect the amount of investor’s returns. 

 
The financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated subsidiaries refer to the same period and have been 

drawn up according to the accounting policies applicable to the Group. A subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial 

statements from the time of acquisition, being the date when the parent company gains control over the subsidiary. The 

subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial statements until the date when control over the company ceases to 
exist. 

 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the acquisition method. The acquisition value is 

measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed. 
 

The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured initially at their fair values on acquisition date, irrespective of any minority interest. Intra-group transactions, 

balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
 

1.4. Foreign currency translation 

 

The functional and presentation currency of the parent company and subsidiaries is Euro. Foreign currency transactions 
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions. On subsequent balance sheet dates monetary items in foreign currency are translated using the closing 

rate. Non-monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency, are translated using the 

exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value in a foreign currency, 
are translated applying the exchange rate of the European Central Bank on the date on which the fair value is determined. 

Gains and losses arising as a result of exchange rate differences on settlement or translation of monetary items are 

recognised in profit or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, classified as financial assets or financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the change in fair value of those items.  
 

1.5. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

For the purposes of presentation in the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand, demand deposits 
with the Central Banks and demand deposits with other credit institutions, which are readily convertible to known amounts 

of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value are accounted for as cash/cash equivalents. 

 

1.6. Financial assets 
 

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument and are measured at fair value on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the fair value on initial 

recognition except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed in profit 
or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired, the Group has transferred 

substantially all risks and rewards and upon substantial modification. Financial assets at fair value are recognised on the 

balance sheet on trade date, with exception of loans, which are recognized on settlement date. Financial assets measured 

at amortised cost are recognised on settlement date. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.6. Financial assets (continued) 
 
The Group classifies and subsequently measures its financial assets in the following categories: 

- financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’);  

- amortised cost (‘AC’).  
 

1.6.1. Debt Instruments 

 

Debt instruments (Loans and debt securities): The classification is based on a combination of assessing the business model 
for managing the financial assets and whether the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of 

principal and interest (‘SPPI’). The business model assessment is performed for homogenous portfolios identified based 

on how the business is managed in the divisions of the Group. The assessment is based on reasonable scenarios taking into 

consideration how the portfolio is evaluated and reported to management; the risks affecting the performance of the 
portfolio and how these risks are managed; how managers are compensated; and the frequency, value and timing of sales 

including the reasons for the sales. In determining if the cash flows consist solely of principal and interest, the principal is 

defined as the fair value of the debt instrument at initial recognition, which can change over the life if there are repayments 

or capitalisation of interest. Interest cash flows are consistent with components per a basic lending arrangement including 
consideration for time value of money, credit risk, liquidity risk as well as administrative costs and profit margin. If there 

are contractual features introducing an exposure to other risks or volatility, it is not considered to consist of solely 

payments of principal and interest. Debt instruments are presented in the balance sheet items; Cash and cash balances 

with central bank, Receivables from credit institutions, Loans to the public and Debt securities, and include instruments in 
the following measurement categories. 

 

Fair value through profit or loss: Debt instruments are classified in this category if not meeting the criteria for amortised 

cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This is the case if the business model is held for trading; where 
financial assets are considered held for trading if they are held with the intention to be sold in the short-term and for the 

purpose of generating profits. Debt instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss if the assets 

are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis or the assets are held with an intention to sell alternatively if the cash 

flows do not consist of solely payments of principal and interest. Debt instruments that would otherwise be classified as 
fair value through other comprehensive income or amortised cost are also included in this category if, upon initial 

recognition, designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). The fair value option can be applied only in 

situations where such designation reduces measurement inconsistencies. 

 
Amortised cost: Debt instruments are classified in this category if both of the following criteria are met: 

(a) the business model objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest.  

The gross carrying amount of these assets is measured using the effective interest method and adjusted for expected 
credit losses. 

 

1.6.2. Equity instruments 

 
Equity instruments are per default classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. An irrevocable election 

can be made on initial recognition to classify equity instruments (not held for trading) at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. 

 
1.6.3. Derivatives 

 

Derivatives are classified as fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) unless designated as hedging instruments. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

1.6.  Financial assets (continued) 

 

1.6.4. Modification 
 

The Group may renegotiate loans and modify contractual terms. If the new terms are substantially different from the 

original terms, the Group derecognizes the original financial asset and recognises a new asset. The Group also assesses 

whether the new financial asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. If the terms are not substantially different, the 
modification does not result in derecognition and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the new cash 

flows using the original effective interest rate of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss. 

 

1.6.5. Reclassification 
 

In rare circumstances debt instruments (financial assets) excluding those designated at fair value through profit or loss 

on initial recognition, can be reclassified if there has been a change in the business model for managing the financial asset. 

 
1.6.6. Write-off 

 

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it is unlikely to collect debt from the borrower and it cannot 

be recovered from a sale of collateral. Write-offs constitute derecognition event and shall include amounts caused both 
by reductions of the carrying amount of financial assets recognised directly in profit or loss as well as reductions in the 

amounts of the allowance accounts for credit losses taken against the carrying amount of financial assets. 

 

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The Group still seeks to recover 
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation on full 

recovery. 

 

1.6.7. Accounting policies for financial assets applicable till 1 January 2018 (relevant for comparative figures for 
2017)  
 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument and are measured at fair value on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the fair value on initial 

recognition except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed in profit 
or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or the Group has transferred 

substantially all risks and rewards. 

 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss; loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.  

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet on the trade date, with exception of loans and receivables, which are 

recognised on the settlement date. 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of financial assets classified as held for trading and financial 

assets which, upon initial recognition, have been designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). Financial 

assets are classified as held for trading if they are held with the intention to be sold in the short-term and for the purpose 
of generating profits. Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless designated as hedging instruments.  

 

The fair value option can be applied to contracts including one or more embedded derivatives, investments that are 

managed and evaluated on a fair value basis and situations in which such designation reduces measurement 
inconsistencies. The nature of the financial assets which have been designated at fair value through profit or loss and the 

criteria for such designation are described in the Note 15 to the financial statements. 

 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The balance 

sheet items Cash balances with the Bank of Latvia, Balances due from banks, Loans and advances to customers and part 

of Other assets representing financial assets are included in this category. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.6.  Financial assets (continued) 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale and are not 
classified into any of the other categories described above. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. 

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are reported in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. 

In the case of sale or impairment of an available-for-sale financial asset, the accumulated gains or losses previously 

reported in equity are recognised in profit or loss. Interest on interest-bearing available-for-sale financial assets is 
recognised in profit or loss, applying the effective interest method. Dividends on equity instruments, classified as 

available-for-sale, are also recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Investments in equity instruments without a quoted market price in an active market are measured, if possible, at fair 
value on the basis of a recognised valuation method. Investments in equity instruments without a quoted market price in 

an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost. 

 

1.7. Financial guarantees 
 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 

it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value, which most often equals the premium received. 
The initial fair value is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is subsequently carried at 

the higher of this amortised amount and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any financial obligation 

arising as a result of the guarantee at the balance sheet date. Provisions and changes in provisions are recognised in the 

income statement as Net credit losses. The contractual amounts according to financial guarantees are not recognised in 
the balance sheet but disclosed as obligations. 

 

1.8. Expected credit loss 

 
1.8.1. Accounting policies for Expected credit loss applicable starting from 1 January 2018 

 

1.8.1.1. Measurement 

 
The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model. The guiding principle of the ECL model is 

to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of financial instruments. All financial 

assets measured at amortised cost, as well as lease receivables, financial guarantees contracts and certain loan 

commitments are in scope for expected credit loss. 
 

The ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost and lease receivables are presented as allowances, i.e., as an 

integral part of the measurement of those assets in the balance sheet. The allowance reduces the gross carrying amount. 

The ECLs on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions, i.e., as a liability, in the 
balance sheet. Adjustment to the loss allowance and provision due to changes in ECLs is recognised in the income 

statement as Net expected credit losses. 

 

The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL, shall be unbiased and probability-weighted, and shall incorporate 
all available information which is relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, current conditions 

and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. SEB Group uses 

both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECLs. 

 
The ECL model has a three-stage approach based on changes in the credit risk. A 12-month ECL (Stage 1) applies to all 

items, unless there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For items where there is a significant 

increase in credit risk (Stage 2) or in default (Stage 3), lifetime ECL applies. 

 
1.8.1.2. Significant increase in credit risk 

 

At the end of each reporting period the Group perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly 

since initial recognition. The assessment of whether there has been a significant change in credit risk is based on 
quantitative and qualitative indicators. Both historic and forward-looking information shall be used in the assessment. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.8.  Expected credit loss (continued) 

 

For arrangements with an initial origination date as of 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 

probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario-weighted annualized lifetime PD at the reporting date with the 
scenario-weighted annualized lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 

January 2018 changes in Group’s and Bank’s internal risk classifications since initial origination are used as the primary 

indicator. 

 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators 

occur: 

  payments are past due >30 days but <90 days; or 

  financial assets that have been classified as watch-listed; or  

 financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the loans 
have been revised and concessions given). 

Back-stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

In case there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an allowance for lifetime ECL shall be 

recognised and the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 2. The approach is symmetrical, meaning that in 
subsequent reporting periods, if the credit quality of the financial instrument improves such that there is no longer a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the financial assets move back to Stage 1. 

 

1.8.1.3. Definition of default 
 

Financial instruments in default are in Stage 3. The Group apply a definition of default for accounting purposes that is 

consistent with how it is defined in the capital requirements regulation (Artcle 178 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of 

the European Parliament and of the Council on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and 
amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012), which includes financial assets past due more than 90 days. All financial assets 

in Stage 3 are considered credit-impaired. 

 

1.8.1.4. Modelling 
 

The ECL is calculated as a function of the probability of default (PD), the exposure at default (EAD) and the loss given 

default (LGD), as well as the timing of the loss. The Group’s IFRS 9 methodology for ECL measurement is based on existing 

internal rating-based risk models (IRB) to the extent allowed under IFRS 9. As the objectives of these frameworks differ, 
the manner in which the expected credit losses are calculated also differs and appropriate adjustments are made to the 

IRB parameters to meet IFRS 9 requirements. Adjustments include the conversion of through-the-cycle and downturn 

parameters used in IRB risk models to point-in-time parameters used under IFRS 9 that considers forward-looking 

information. 
 

PD represents the likelihood that a loan will not be repaid and will go into default in either a 12-month or lifetime horizon. 

The expected PD for each individual instrument incorporates a consideration of past events, current market conditions 

and reasonable and supportable information about future economic conditions. The Group use IFRS 9 specific PD models. 
The models are calibrated based on a combination of assets class and product type. EAD represents an estimate of the 

outstanding amount of credit exposure at the time a default may occur. For off-balance sheet amounts, EAD includes an 

estimate of any further amounts to be drawn at the time of default. For IFRS 9, EAD models are adjusted for a 12-month 

or lifetime horizon. LGD is the amount that may not be recovered in the event of default. LGD takes into consideration the 
amount and quality of any collateral held as well as the probability of cure, whereby the borrower repays all his past due 

obligations on the defaulted loan and recommences contractual repayments. The Group use existing LGD models adjusted 

to meet IFRS 9 requirements. 

 
When measuring ECL, the Group use the maximum contractual period during which the Group is exposed to risk. All 

contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment options and extension and 

rollover options. For revolving facilities, such as credit cards, and retail mortgage facilities the expected life is modelled 

based on historical behaviour. The residual behavioural expected life for such facilities is based on historically observed 
survival curve and it is affected by the time since origination of the arrangement. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

1.8.  Expected credit loss (continued) 

 

1.8.1.5. Forward-looking information 
 

The SEB Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information 

incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least 

three scenarios are used. One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is 
also applied in the financial planning and budgeting process, while other case scenarios represent more positive or 

negative outcomes. 

 

The forward-looking scenarios are prepared by SEB Group Economic Research Department. The scenarios are approved 
by the SEB Group Risk Committee. 

 

A scenario consists of a qualitative description of the macroeconomic development and a quantitative part, with forecasts 

of key macroeconomic variables for three subsequent years s, as well as the likelihood of occurrence (scenario- weight). 
The scenarios are reviewed on a quarterly basis. In case of significant changes in the macroeconomic environment and 

outlook, the scenarios will be updated more frequently. The base scenario variables are benchmarked to various external 

sources of similar forward-looking scenarios, e.g. from OECD, IMF, EU Commission and National Statistics Offices, and are 

used as inputs to the scenarios applied. 
 

1.8.1.6. Expert Credit Judgement 

 

The Group use both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The degree of judgement that 
is required to estimate ECL depends on the model outcome, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The  

 

model provides guidance and transparency as to how economic events could affect the impairment of financial assets. 

ECJ may be applied to the modelled outcome to incorporate an estimated impact of factors not captured by the model. 
Such judgemental adjustment to the model-generated ECLs may be applied to significant exposures at a counterparty  

level. The adjustments are decided by the relevant credit committee using the model ECLs as guidance. In addition there 

may be a need for adjustments at a portfolio level, which is decided by the SEB Group Risk Committee. 

 
1.8.2. Accounting policies for Impairment of financial assets applicable till 1 January 2018 (relevant for comparative 

figures for 2017)  

 

All financial assets, except those classified at fair value through profit or loss, are tested for impairment. 
 

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial 

assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets are 

impaired and impairment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events occurring after the initial recognition of the asset, and if that loss event will have an impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of the financial asset or a group of financial assets that can be reliably measured. 

 

Examples of objective evidence that one or more events have occurred which may affect estimated future cash flows 
include: 

 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor, 

 concession granted to the borrower as a consequence of financial difficulty, which normally would not have been 

granted to the borrower, 

 a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in the payment of interest or principal, 

 the probability that the borrower will go bankrupt or undergo some other kind of financial reconstruction 

 deterioration in the value of collateral and 

 a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity instrument below its cost. 
 

An impairment loss is reported as a write off, if it is deemed impossible to collect the contractual amounts that have 
not been paid and/or are expected to remain unpaid, or if it is deemed impossible to recover the acquisition cost by 

selling any collateral provided. In other cases, a specific provision is recorded in an allowance account. As soon as 

the non-collectible amount can be determined and the asset is written off, the amount reported in the allowance 

account is dissolved. Similarly, the provision in the allowance account is reversed if the estimated recovery value 
exceeds the carrying amount. 



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

 

 21 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

1.8.  Expected credit loss (continued) 

 

1.8.2.1. Assessment of impairment 
 

1.8.2.1.1. Individual assessment of impairment 

Loss events indicating objective evidence of impairment of individually assessed assets are when scheduled 

payments are past due by more than 90 days, or if the counterparty is expected to be in default or any other 
combination of events that are deemed so negative that there will be a probable payment default in the foreseeable 

future. The debt instrument is impaired if the cash flows including the value of the collateral does not cover 

outstanding exposure. 

 
1.8.2.1.2. Collective assessment of impairment when assets are not individually impaired 

Assets assessed for impairment on an individual basis and found not impaired are included in a collective assessed, 

of incurred but not identified, impairment. The collective assessment of incurred but not identified credit losses is 

based on the SEB counterpart rating scale. 
 

1.8.2.1.3. Loans assessed on a portfolio basis 

Loans with limited value and similar risk, homogenous groups, are assessed for impairment on a portfolio basis. In 

assessing collective impairment the Group uses statistical models based on the probability of default 
and the amount of loss incurred, considering collaterals and recovery rates. The outcome is adjusted for 

management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are 

likely to be greater or less than suggested by the models. Default rates and loss rates are regularly benchmarked 

against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate. 
 

1.8.2.2. Recognition of impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost 

 

An impairment of an individually assessed financial asset in the category loans and receivables carried at amortised 
cost is calculated on the basis of the original effective interest rate of the financial instrument. The amount of the 

impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows (recoverable amount). If the terms of an asset are restructured or otherwise modified 

due to financial difficulties on behalf of the borrower or issuer, impairment is measured using the original effective 
interest rate before modification of the terms and conditions. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not 

discounted if the effect of the discounting is immaterial. The entire outstanding amount of each loan for which a 

specific provision has been established is included in impaired loans, i.e. including the portion covered by collateral. 

 
1.8.2.3. Recognition of impairment loss on Available-for-sale financial assets 

 

When there is a decline in the fair value and there is objective evidence of impairment in an available-for-sale 

financial instrument, the accumulated loss shall be reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Equity instruments are 
considered impaired when a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value has occurred. The amount of the 

accumulated loss that is transferred from equity and recognised in profit or loss is equal to the difference between 

the acquisition cost and the current fair value, with a deduction of any impairment losses on that financial asset 

which had been previously recognised in profit or loss. 
 

The incurred impairment of unquoted equities, measured at acquisition cost, is calculated as the difference between 

the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of 

return for similar equities. 
 

Impairment losses on bonds or other interest-bearing instruments classified as available-for-sale are reversed via 

profit or loss if the increase in fair value can be objectively attributed to an event taking place subsequent to the 

write-down. Impairment losses for equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit 
or loss following an increase in fair value but are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.9. Financial liabilities 

 

1.9.1. Accounting policies for financial liabilities applicable starting from 1 January 2018 

 
Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In case the financial liabilities are measured at fair 

value through profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability 

are recognised in profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost are recognised as a deduction from the 

fair value. 
 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as held for trading. Financial liabilities held for trading 

are derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.  

 

Other financial liabilities 
The category other financial liabilities primarily include the Group’s short-term and long-term borrowings. After initial 

recognition other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The balance 

sheet items Deposits from central banks and credit institutions, Deposits and borrowings from the public and Other 

financial liabilities are included in this category. 
 

1.9.2. Accounting policies for financial liabilities applicable till 1 January 2018 (relevant for comparative figures for 

2017)  
 

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In the case of financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability are 

recognised in profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost are recognised as a deduction from the fair 

value. 

 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are either classified as held for trading or designated as fair value 
through profit or loss on initial recognition (fair value option). The criteria for classification of financial liabilities under the 

fair value option are the same as for financial assets. Financial liabilities held for trading are primarily derivatives not 

designated as hedging instruments.  

 

Other financial liabilities 

The category other financial liabilities primarily include the Group’s short-term and long-term borrowings. After initial 

recognition other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The balance 

sheet items Balances due to banks and customers, as well as part of Other liabilities related to financial liabilities are 
included in this category. 

 

1.10. Fair value measurement 
 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 

between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value 

is a quoted price for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial 
instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques 

involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-

based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and 

subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year 
could differ from the assumptions used. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.10. Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 

and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are 
made when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies 

for estimating valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to 

regulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

 
1.11. Offsetting financial transactions 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legal right to 

offset transactions and an intention to settle net or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

1.12. Repossessed collateral 

 

Repossessed collateral are assets taken over to protect a claim. The Group may give up rights of claim from a loan 
receivable and instead repossess the asset that served as collateral for the loan. Repossessed collateral consist of 

properties and other tangible assets. Repossessed collateral are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value and 

reported within “Other non-financial assets”. 

 
1.13. Property, plant and equipment 

 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at cost, consisting of the purchase price, non-refundable taxes and 

other direct costs related to taking the asset in to use. Subsequently property, plant and equipment  is measured at cost 
and depreciated according to plan on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The depreciation 

period for buildings is up to 50 years, for other property, plant and equipment  - between 2 and 10 years. Subsequent 

costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 

that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the reporting period in which they 

are incurred. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included 

in the income statement. 

 
Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. 

 

1.14. Intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance. For an intangible asset to be 

recognised an entity must be able to demonstrate control of the intangible asset, which implies that the entity has the 

ability to ensure that the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying resource will accrue to the company. 

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are only recognised in the balance sheet if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits attributable to the asset will accrue to the Group and if the acquisition cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

 

Intangible assets are measured initially at acquisition cost, and thereafter at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 

any accumulated impairment losses. 
 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives, i.e. all intangible assets except goodwill, are amortised on a straight line basis 

over their useful lives (3 years) and tested for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Internally generated intangible assets, such as software 
development, are amortised over a period of 8 years. 

 

The recoverable amount of an intangible asset is determined if there is indication of a reduction in the value of the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.15. Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In such circumstances the recoverable value of the asset is 
assessed and compared to its carrying value. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 

to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 

are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 

1.16. Leasing 

 
A finance lease is a lease that transfers, from the lessor to the lessee, substantially all risks and rewards incidental to the 

ownership of an asset.  Other leases are classified as operating leases.       

 

1.16.1. The Group as lessor 
 

The receivables from the financial lease agreements are recognised in net present value of the minimum lease payments, 

from which the payments of principal received have been deducted, plus unguaranteed residual value at the end of 

contract. Lease payments collected are allocated between repayment of principal and financial income. Financial income 
is recognised over the rental period based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net 

investment in the financial lease. Initial service fees collected at issuance are included into the calculation of effective 

interest rate and lessor’s net investment. Lessor’s direct expenses, related to the contract, are part of effective interest 

rate and are booked as decrease of leasing income over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for lease receivables 
are presented on the respective line of statement of financial position at negative value. 

 

The lease receivable from the client is recognised in the statement of financial position as of the moment of delivering the 

assets being the object of the agreement to the client. In case of transactions, in which the assets being the object of the 
agreement having a long delivery term have not yet been delivered to the client, the payments received from the lessees 

under these agreements are recognised in the statement of financial position as prepayments of buyers in on line “Other 

financial assets”. The amounts paid by the leasing entity for the assets under lease agreements not yet delivered are 

recognised in the statement of financial position as prepayments to suppliers on line “Other non-financial assets”. 
 

Assets under operating leases when the Group are lessors are recognised as property and equipment. The assets under 

operating lease are recognised at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of assets under operating 

lease is calculated on the difference between historic cost and estimated residual value at the end of the useful life. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of fixed assets and the charge is included 

in “Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets”.  

 

Income receivable under operating leases is credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
and is included in “Other operating income”. 

 

1.16.2. The Group as lessee 

 
Operating lease payments are recognised in income statement as expense over the rental period on straight line basis. 

Rental expense is recognised in income statement as “Other expenses”. 

 

1.17. Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising as consequences of past events where it is more likely than not 

that a transfer of economic benefit will be necessary to settle the obligation, and it can be reliably estimated. 

 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

 

Provisions are made for undrawn loan commitments and similar facilities if it is probable that the facility will be drawn by 
a debtor in financial difficulties. 

 

Provisions are evaluated at each balance sheet date and are adjusted as necessary. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

1.18. Operating income 
 

1.18.1. Interest income and interest expenses 
 

The effective interest method is applied to recognise interest income and interest expenses in profit or loss for financial 

assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 
 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and 
of allocating interest income and interest expenses. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future 

cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial 

instrument. When calculating future payments, all payments included in the terms and conditions of the contracts, such as 

advance payments, are taken into consideration. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes fees and points to 
be received and paid that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  However, expected credit losses are not taken 

into account. 
 

If a financial asset subsequently has become credit impaired the interest income is recognised applying the effective 

interest rate to the amortised cost, i.e. gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. In case a financial asset is 

credit-impaired at initial recognition, the expected credit losses are included in the estimated cash flows to calculate a 
credit adjusted effective interest rate which then is applied to recognise the interest income. 
 

1.18.2. Fee and commission income 
 

The recognition of revenue from contracts with customers is reported as fee and commission income. This does not apply 

for revenue from leasing contracts or financial instruments and other contractual obligations within the scope of IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments. 
 

Fees that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument measured at amortised cost, 

such as loan origination fees, are allocated over the expected tenor of the instrument applying the effective interest 
method and presented in Interest income. 
 

Fee and commission income is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services to the customers in an amount that 

reflects the consideration to which SEB expects to be entitled in exchange for the service. The major types of fees are 

described below. 
 

Fee and commission income for payment cards, current account services, payments is recognised as revenue at a point of 

time or over the period in which services are provided, depending on the service provided to the client. There is neither 

significant variable consideration included in the transaction price, which could be subject to reversal in the future, nor 
separate performance obligations, which should be distinct. 
 

Fee and commission income for asset custody and asset management to customers is recognised as revenue over the 

period in which the services are provided. Performance based fees are recognised when it is highly probable that a 

significant reversal of recognised revenue will not occur, which is most often when the performance criteria are fulfilled. 
Fee and commission income from loan syndications in which SEB acts as arranger are recognised as income when the 

syndication is completed and the Group has retained no part of the loan or retained a part of the loan at the same effective 

interest rate as other participants. Brokerage fees, commission and fees from negotiating a transaction for a third party, 

such as arrangement of acquisitions or purchase or sale of a business, are recognised on completion of the transaction. 
 

Expenses that are directly related to the generation of fee and commission income are recognised as fee and commission 

expense. 
 

1.18.3. Net financial income 
 

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit 

or loss are reported under the item Net financial income. 
 

1.18.4. Dividend income 
 

Dividends are recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

1.19. Employee benefits 
 

1.19.1. Short-term benefits 
 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 

service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the 

amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as Other non-financial liabilities 

in the statement of financial position. 
 

1.19.2. Termination benefits 
 

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date 

or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes 

termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an 

offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
 

1.19.3. Defined contribution plans or insurance contracts 
 

The Group is paying into the defined contribution plans or life insurance contracts on behalf of its employees. A defined 

contribution plan is a pension plan where the Group pays a contribution to AS "SEB atklātais pensiju fonds" and has no 

further obligation once the contribution is paid. Pension costs for defined contribution pension plans and life insurance 

premiums are recognised as an expense during the period the employees carry out the service to which the payment 
relates. 

 

1.20. Share-based payments 

 
The Group operates a number of share-based incentive programmes based on Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 

shares, under which it awards SEB equity instruments to its employees. Only key persons can participate in those 

programmes. The programmes, referred to above, are the Share Deferral Program (SDP) and Share Matching Program 

(SMP).Equity-settled share-based incentive programmes entitle employees to receive SEB equity instruments. Cash-
settled share-based incentive programmes entitle employees to receive cash based on the price or value of equity 

instruments of SEB. Fair value of these rights is determined by using appropriate valuation models, taking into account the 

terms and conditions of the award and the Group’s estimate of the number of rights that will eventually vest, which is 

reassessed at each reporting date. Social security costs, if applicable,  are accounted for over the vesting period and the 
provision for social security costs is reassessed on each reporting date to ensure that the provision is based on the rights’ 

fair value at the reporting date. The recording of expenses will last until the end of the qualification period of the respective 

programs. 

 
The cost of equity-settled share-based incentive programmes is measured by reference to the fair value of equity 

instruments on the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period 

with a corresponding increase in equity. The vesting period is the period that the employees have to remain in service in 

SEB in order for their rights to vest. For cash-settled share-based incentive programmes, the services acquired and liability 
incurred are measured at the fair value of the liability and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, during which 

the employees render service. Until settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with changes in fair value 

recognised in the income statement. 

 
1.21.  Taxes 

 

The Group’s tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and 

prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Current tax is calculated based on the taxable 

results for the period. Deferred tax in consolidated financial statements arises from undistributed profits of subsidiaries. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

1.21. Taxes (continued) 

 

Current tax and deferred tax are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, tax that relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income is also reported directly in other comprehensive income.  

 

On 28 July 2017, a new Corporate Income Tax Law was adopted, which stipulates that from 1 January 2018, the 

corporate income tax is levied on profit that arose after 2017 if it is distributed or of conditionally distributed profit arise.  
When the law came into force, there were no longer any reasons for the existence of a deferred tax asset or liability and 

in 2017 the Bank and the Group eliminated previously recognized deferred tax liability and assets from the balance sheet, 

including a reduction in that liability and assets in the profit and loss account for the year 2017. Transitional provisions of 

the law provide that taxpayers will be able to utilise the unused tax losses accumulated by 31 December 2017 during 
next 5 taxation years for reducing the tax payable on distributed profits by no more than 50% each year, as well as to use 

provisions created by 31 December 2017 that resulted in the increase of taxable income during the respective tax 

periods, for reduction of taxable profits, in the amount of their reduction. 

 
From taxation year 2018, corporate income tax will be calculated on the basis of distributed profit (20/80 of the net 

amount payable to shareholders). Corporate tax on distributed profit will be recognized when the shareholder of the Bank 

makes a decision about profit distribution. 

 
The Group calculates and pays corporate income tax also for the conditionally distributed profit (20/80 of calculated 

taxable base), which includes taxable objects in accordance with the Corporate Income Tax law, such as the expenditure 

not related to economic activity, the doubtful debts of debtors and the loans to the related parties, if they meet criteria 

provided in the Corporate Income Tax law, as well other expenses exceeding statutory limits for deduction. Corporate 
income tax for the conditionally distributed profit is recognized in the profit or loss statement in the year for which it is 

assessed. Corporate income tax for the distributed profit is included in the income statement line item “Income tax 

expense” while corporate income tax for the conditionally distributed profit in included into line item “Other expenses”. 
 

1.22. Fiduciary activities 
 

The Group provides asset management services and offers fund management services. The assets owned by third parties, 

but managed by the Group, and income arising thereon, are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not 
assets of the Group. Commissions received from fiduciary activities are shown in fee and commission income. 

 

1.23. Share capital and dividends 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 

equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par 

value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 

 
Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Any dividends declared after the end of the 

reporting period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue, are disclosed in the subsequent events note. 

 

1.24. Changes in accounting policies implemented 2018 
 

Effect from implementation of new standards 

 

The Group adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with a date of transition 1 January 2018. The standard covers three 
areas; classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. For transitional purposes the quantitative 

indicator used for assessing significant increase in credit risk for impairment purposes is based on risk class or equivalent. 

As permitted by the transitional provisions in IFRS 9, the Group has elected not to restate comparative figures. Any 

adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the date of transition are recognised in the opening 
retained earnings and other reserves as at 1 January 2018.  

 

The Group adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers with a date of transition 1 January 2018. The Group 

chose to apply the standard retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented. According to the assessment of IFRS 
15 impact, the Group does not have any transition effect on annual financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

1.24. Changes in accounting policies implemented 2018 (continued) 

 
The transition tables below outline the changes to the Group financial statements as of 1 January 2018 from primarily 

two areas: (1) a change in the presentation of balance sheet of the Group to better reflect the new requirements under 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and (2) the effects of transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 as per 1 January 2018.  

 

As of 1 January 2018, IFRS 9 introduced new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 

accounting. The balance sheet of the Group has been adjusted to better reflect the measurement categories and 
accounting policies under IFRS 9. The new balance sheet applies from 1 January 2018.  

 

The new requirements implied a change in the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities which 

increased the 2018 opening balance for retained earnings by EUR 5.0 million. The available-for-sale category under IAS 
39, where fair value changes were reported in Other comprehensive income, ceased and valuations of fair value are 

reported in Net financial income. As a result, a positive fair value in the amount of EUR 0.6 million was derecognised. An 

aggregate overview of the transitional effects from classification and measurement under IFRS 9, along with a detailed 

description for each portfolio, is presented on page 29-32.  
 

The impairment model for credit losses was changed from an incurred loss model to an expected loss model which resulted 

in an decrease of allowances amounting to EUR 6.4 million. The net effect after tax is a EUR 5.0 million increase of retained 

earnings. The decrease in allowances was driven by three main factors: First, all items in scope were each assigned a 
reserve. Second, there was an increase of allowances for off-balance sheet commitments. Third, a forward-looking view 

of the macroeconomic development was incorporated in the calculation of expected credit losses. There are three 

different scenarios that reflect SEB’s view on macroeconomic development. Further information on expected credit losses 

and gross carrying amounts is provided on page 33.   
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.24. Changes in accounting policies implemented 2018 (continued) 

 

As of 1 January 2018, the Group has changed its presentation of the balance sheet in order to better reflect the 

measurement categories and accounting principles under IFRS 9. The table demonstrates the remapping of the Group’s 
balance sheet in order to facilitate for an efficient reconciliation between closing balances under IAS 39 and the opening 

balances under IFRS 9. The table also provides information on the amounts that have been moved between the balance 

sheet items under the previous presentation structure to the balance sheet items under the new presentation structure. 

 
Transition tables for the Group – from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 

 

Balance sheet – new proposed 

structure 

Closing 

balance 

IFRS 9 financial 

instruments - 
Change in ECL 

allowances 

IFRS 9 financial 

instruments - 
Change in 

classification 

Opening balance 

EUR mil. 31/12/2017   01/01/2018 

Assets     
Cash and balances with central bank 570.1 - - 570.1 

Receivables from credit institutions 126.9 - - 126.9 

Loans to the public 2,637.3 6.4 - 2,643.7 

Debts securities 287.1 - 0.3 287.4 
Derivatives 23.2 - - 23.2 

Equity instruments 3.8 - -0.3 3.5 

Intangible assets 9.3 - - 9.3 

Property, plant and equipment 9.0 - - 9.0 
Current income tax assets - - - - 

Deferred income tax assets - - - - 

Other financial assets 10.8 - - 10.8 

Other non-financial assets 10.6 - - 10.6 

Total assets 3,688.1 6.4 - 3,694.5 

     

Liabilities     
Deposits from central banks and 

credit institutions 836.8 - - 836.8 

Deposits and borrowings from the 

public 2,374.2 - - 2,374.2 
Derivatives 23.1 - - 23.1 

Current income tax liability 0.3 - - 0.3 

Deferred income tax liability - - - - 

Provisions 2.3 1.4 - 3.7 
Other financial liabilities 38.7 - - 38.7 

Other non-financial liabilities 8.8 - - 8.8 

Total liabilities 3,284.2 1.4 - 3,284.2 

     

Equity     

Capital and reserves attributable 

to the equity holders   

 

 
Share capital 145.3 - - 145.3 

Share premium 5.1 - - 5.1 

Revaluation result on investment 

securities available-for-sale  0.6 -0.6 - - 
Other reserves 0.6 - - 0.6 

Retained earnings 252.3 5.6 - 257.9 

Total equity 403.9 5.0 - 408.9 

     

Total liabilities and equity 3,688.1 6.4 - 3,694.5 

The table show the transition effects of IFRS 9 on the Group’s balance sheet as a result of new measurement categories 

and ECL allowance under the new balance sheet structure, reconciling the closing balances under IAS 39 as per 31 
December 2017 with the opening balances under IFRS 9 as per 1 January 2018.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.24. Changes in accounting policies implemented 2018 (continued) 

 

Transition disclosures for the Group – overview of changes to measurement categories on transition to IFRS 9 

 
Assets 
EUR mil. 

Closing balance as of 31/12/2017 under IAS 39 
accounting categories 

Opening balance as of 01/01/2018 under IFRS 
9 accounting categories 

 HFT FVO AFS LaR Other  Total FVHFT FVMPL AmC Other Total 
Cash and balances 
with central bank - - - 570.1 - 570.1 - - 570.1 - 570.1 

Receivables from 
credit institutions - - - 126.9 - 126.9 - - 126.9 - 126.9 
Loans to the public - - - 2,637.3 - 2,637.3 - - 2,643.7 - 2,643.7 

Debts securities - 287.1 - - - 287.1 - 287.4 - - 287.4 
Derivatives 23.2 - - - - 23.2 23.2 - - - 23.2 
Equity instruments - - 3.8 - - 3.8 - 3.5 - - 3.5 

Intangible assets - - - - 9.3 9.3 - - - 9.3 9.3 
Property, plant and 
equipment - - - 

 
- 9.0 9.0 - - 

 
- 9.0 9.0 

Other financial 
assets - - - 10.8 - 10.8 - - 

10.8 - 
10.8 

Other non-financial 

assets - - - - 10.6 10.6 - - 

- 10.6 

10.6 

Total assets 23.2 287.1 3.8 3,345.1 28.9 3,688.1 23.2 290.9 3,351.5 28.9 3,694.5 

            

 
Liabilities and 

equity 
EUR mil. 

HFT FVO AFS AmC Other  Total FVHFT FVMPL AmC Other Total 

Deposits from 
central banks and 

credit institutions - - - 836.8 - 836.8 - - 836.8 - 836.8 
Deposits and 
borrowings from the 

public - - - 2,374.2 - 2,374.2 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 2,374.2 - 2,374.2 
Derivatives - - - - 23.1 23.1 - - - 23.1 23.1 
Current income tax 

liability - - - 

 

- 0.3 0.3 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 0.3 0.3 
Deferred income tax 
liability - - - 

 
- - - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- - - 

Provisions - - - - 2.3 2.3 - - - 3.7 3.7 
Other financial 
liabilities - - - 

 
38.7 - 38.7 

 
- 

 
- 

 
38.7 - 38.7 

Other non-financial 
liabilities - - - 

 
- 8.8 8.8 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 8.8 8.8 

Equity - - - - 403.9 403.9 - - - 403.9 403.9 

Total liabilities 

and equity - - - 3,249.7 438.4 3,688.1 - - 3,249.7 439.8 3,689.5 

            

 
"Other" category refers to non-financial assets and liabilities, and equity. 

 

These tables provide a complete overview of the transition from measurement categories and carrying amounts under 

IAS 39 as per 31 December 2017 to the measurement categories and carrying amounts under IFRS 9 as per 1 January 
2018. The change in carrying amounts following transition is a result of new measurement categories for financial assets 

and liabilities and ECL allowance (expected credit losses) for financial assets valued at amortised cost and off-balance 

sheet exposures under IFRS 9. For more details on the change in classification and measurement, see the detailed 

classification and measurement tables below. 
  



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

 

 31 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.24. Changes in accounting policies implemented 2018 (continued) 

 

IAS 39 abbreviations: Held for trading (HFT), Fair Value Option (FVO) - financial assets designated at fair value through 

profit or loss at inception, Available-for-sale (AFS), Loans and Receivables (LaR), Amortised Cost (AmC) and Held to 
Maturity (HTM). 

 

IFRS 9 abbreviations: Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Held for Trading (FVHFT), Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Mandatorily (FVMPL), Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Designated (FVDPL), Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive 
Income (FVOCI) and Amortised Cost (AmC). 

 

Transition disclosure for the Group – detailed presentation of changes to measurement categories on transition to 

IFRS 9 
 

The following tables reconcile the previous classification categories under IAS 39 as per 31 December 2017 with the 

classification categories under IFRS 9 as per 1 January 2018. 

 
IAS 39 Classification and 

measurement 

ECL 

Allowances 

IFRS 9 

Class of assets Carrying 

amount as of 
31/12/2017 

Change Remeasu- 

rement 

Impairment Carrying 

amount as of 
01/01/2018 

Classification 

       

Held for trading 23.2 - 23.2     
Reclassified to Fair Value 
Through Profit or Loss Held 

for Trading  23.2 - - 

 
 

23.2 

Fair Value Through 
Profit or Loss Held 

for Trading 
       
Financial assets designated 

at fair value through profit 
or loss at inception (FVO) 287.1 - 287.1   

  

Reclassified to Fair Value 
Through Profit or Loss 
Mandatorily  287.1 - - 

 

 
287.1 

 

Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss 
Mandatorily 

       
Available for sale 3.7 - 3.7     

Reclassified to Fair Value 
Through Profit or Loss 
Mandatorily  3.7 - - 

 

 
3.7 

 

Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss 
Mandatorily 

     
  

Loans and receivables 3,345.1 - 3,345.1     
Reclassified to Amortised 

cost  3,345.1 - 6.4 

 

3,351.5 

 

Amortised cost 

 

As of 1 January 2018, the Group does not longer apply fair value option for a portion of its debt instruments. These 

instruments are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis and are therefore mandatorily measured at fair value 
through profit or loss under IFRS 9.  

 

The group in line with IFRS 9 decided to measure equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss. The accumulated 

OCI for these equity instruments was EUR 0.6 million as of 31 December 2017 and this amount has been recognised into 
retained earnings as of 1 January 2018.  

 
IAS 39 Classification and 

measurement 
ECL Allowances IFRS 9 

Class of liabilities Carrying 
amount as of 
31/12/2017 

Change Remeasu- 
rement 

Impairment Carrying 
amount as of 
01/01/2018 

Classification 

       
Amortised cost 3,249.7 - 3,249.7     
Reclassified to Amortised 

cost  3,249.7 - - 

 

3,249.7 

 

Amortised cost 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.24. Changes in accounting policies implemented 2018 (continued) 

 

Transition disclosure for the Group – Impairment provisions – IAS 39 and IFRS 9 

 
 

Financial assets 

EUR mil. 

Classification  Provisions 

IAS 39 

 ECL allowances IFRS 9 

 IAS 39 IFRS 9 31/12/2017 Change in 
allowances 

01/01/2018 

      
Cash and balances with central bank LaR AmC - - - 
Receivables from credit institutions LaR AmC - - - 

Loans to the public LaR AmC 55.9 -6.4 49.5 
Debt securities FVO FVMPL - - - 
Derivatives HFT FVHFT - - - 

Equity instruments AFS FVMPL - - - 
Other financial assets LaR AmC - - - 

 

Loan commitments and 

financial guarantees 

EUR mil. 

Classification  Provisions 
IAS 39 

 ECL allowances IFRS 9 

 IAS 39 IFRS 9 31/12/2017 Change in 
allowances 

01/01/2018 

      

Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees N/A N/A - 

 
1.4 

 
1.4 

 

IAS 39 abbreviations: Held for trading (HFT), Fair Value Option (FVO) - financial assets designated at fair value through 

profit or loss at inception, Available-for-sale (AFS), Loans and Receivables (LaR), Amortised Cost (AmC) and Held to 

Maturity (HTM). 
 

IFRS 9 abbreviations: Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Held for Trading (FVHFT), Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Mandatorily (FVMPL) and Amortised Cost (AmC). 

 
The tables reconciles the closing period's impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IAS 39 incurred loss 

model and the provisions for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts in accordance with IAS 37 to the new 

impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 January 2018. For each asset 

class the new measurement category under IFRS 9 is compared to the previous measurement category under IAS 39 and 
demonstrating the change in allowances between IAS 39 and IFRS 9. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.24. Changes in accounting policies implemented 2018 (continued) 

 

Transition disclosure for the Group – Impairment provisions, IAS 39 and IFRS 9, ECL allowances by impairment 

stages 01/01/2018 
 

Group Gross carrying 

amounts/ 

Nominal 
amounts 

ECL 

allowances 

Carrying 

amounts/ 

Net amounts 

ECL 

coverage 

ratio, % 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  

     

Stage 1 (12-month ECL)     
Loans to credit institutions and the public 1)  2,166.3     1.2     2,165.1     0.06    

Other financial assets 2)  7.9     -       7.9     -      

Financial assets  2,174.2     1.2     2,173.0    0.06    

Financial guarantees and loan commitments  582.2     0.3     581.9     0.05    

Total  2,756.4     1.5     2,754.9     0.05    

Stage 1 share of total ECL allowances  2.95%   
     

Stage 2 (lifetime ECL)     

Loans to credit institutions and the public  557.6     5.1     552.5     0.91    

Other financial assets 2)  0.1     -       0.1     -      

Financial assets  557.7     5.1   552.6    0.91    

Financial guarantees and loan commitments  79.6     0.2     79.4     0.25    

Total  637.3     5.3     632.0     0.83    

Stage 2 share of total ECL allowances  10.41%   

     
Stage 3 (credit impaired/lifetime ECL)     

Loans to credit institutions and the public  96.0     43.2     52.8     45.00    

Other financial assets 2)  -       -       -       

Financial assets  96.0     43.2     52.8     45.00    

Financial guarantees and loan commitments  3.4     0.9     2.5     26.47    

Total  99.4     44.1     55.3     44.37    

Stage 3 share of total ECL allowances  86.64%   

     

Total     
Loans to credit institutions and the public1)  2,819.9     49.5     2,770.4     1.76    

Other financial assets 2) 8.0 - 8.0 - 

Financial assets  2,827.9     49.5     2,778.4     1.75    

Financial guarantees and loan commitments  665.2     1.4     663.8     0.21    

Total 3,493.1 50.9 3,442.2 1.46 
1) Including demand deposits credit institutions EUR 119.0m – whose calculated ECL is immaterial 
2) Including trade and client receivables 

 

The table shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance divided 
by stage as a mean to put ECL allowances in context to overall exposures levels. For trade receivables a simplified 

approach based on past-due information is used to calculate loss allowances. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.25. Future accounting developments 

 

Consideration will be given in the future to the implications, if any, of the following new and revised standards and 

interpretations, if adopted by the EU. 
 

IFRS 16 Leases replaces IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The standard is effective as from 1 January 2019 

and is endorsed by the EU. The new standard significantly changes how SEB as a lessee accounts for leases by 

introducing a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model requiring the recognition of lease assets (right-of-use 
assets) and corresponding lease liabilities. In the income statement, the straight-line operating lease expense is replaced 

by depreciation of the lease assets and an interest expense on the lease liability. The accounting requirements for 

lessors are in practice unchanged. 

Upon transition to IFRS 16, the Group has decided to apply the modified retrospective approach. For the purpose of 
applying the modified retrospective approach to the leases, the Group has elected to measure the right-of-use assets to 

an amount equal to the lease liability.  

 

In addition, the group decided to apply the practical expedients to use hindsight when assessing the lease term, not to 
recognise a right-of-use asset or lease liability to leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the date of 

initial application and not to include assets of low value. 

 

The main impact on the group’s financial statements is from the accounting of property leases. . The Group will recognize 
following impact on transition to IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019: 

 

EUR mil.  

  

Right of use asset 13.1 
Sublease receivable 0.3 

  

Lease liability 13.8 

Provisions -0.2 
  

Equity effect -0.2 

 

The difference between right-of use assets and lease liabilities will be recognised in retained earnings.  The provision for 
onerous lease contracts which was required under IAS 17 of EUR 0.2 million will be derecognised. There is no significant 

impact on the income statement, although the presentation in the income statement changes as other expenses will be 

replaced by depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest expenses on the lease liability. There is no significant 

impact on large exposures and capital adequacy. 
 

The new standard also introduces new estimates and judgements that affect the measurement of lease liabilities. SEB 

measures the lease liability at the commencement date and may be required to revise it, e.g. the assessment of whether 

an option is reasonably certain to be exercised. As this will increase financial statement volatility, this is revised and 
monitored by the group continuously.  

 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments has been issued and specifies how to reflect the effects of uncertainty 

in accounting for income taxes. IAS 28 Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures has been amended so companies should 
apply IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that form part of the net 

investment in the associate or joint venture. Amendments have been made to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments regarding 

prepayment features with negative compensation. IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, IAS 12 Income Taxes, IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements have been amended within the Annual improvement cycle 2015–2017. 
These amendments and interpretations should be applied from 1 January 2019. The changes will not have a material 

effect on the financial statements of the Group or on capital adequacy and large exposures. 

 

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting includes a new chapter on measurement; guidance on reporting 
financial performance; improved definitions and guidance. Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors clarify the definition of material. Information is 

material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions that the primary 

users financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. These amendments and interpretations 
should be applied from 1 January 2020. The changes will not have a material effect on the financial statements of the 

Group.  



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

 

 35 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

2. Critical judgements in applying the accounting policies 
 

Applying the Group’s accounting policies requires in some cases the use of estimates and assumptions that have a material 

impact on the amounts reported in the financial statements. The estimates are based on expert judgements and 

assumptions that management believes are true and fair. The management continuously evaluates these judgements and 
estimates. The most significant assumptions and estimates are associated with the areas described below: 

 

Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value 

is a quoted price for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial 

instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques 

involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-
based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and 

subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year 

could differ from the assumptions used.  

  
For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 

and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are 

made when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies 

for estimating valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to 
regulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

 

The Group has an established control environment for the determination of fair values of financial instruments that 

includes a review, independently from the business, of valuation models and prices. If the validation principles are not 
adhered to, the Chief Financial Officer shall be informed. Exceptions with material and principal importance require 

approval from the Valuation Committee of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB and the ARC (Accounting Policy and 

Financial Reporting Committee) of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB. 

  
For disclosure purposes, fair values are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level of observability of the 

inputs, see note 32 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities  . 

 

Expected credit loss model  
When calculating expected credit loss (ECL) there are a number of key concepts that require a high level of judgement. 

Estimating expected credit loss is, by its very nature, uncertain and the accuracy of these estimates depends on many 

factors, e.g. macroeconomic forecasts and involves complex modelling and judgements. The assessment of significant 

increase in credit risk is a new concept under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and will require significant judgement. At the 
end of each reporting period the Group shall perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since 

initial recognition by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial 

instrument, using key risk indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk management processes. Another area 

requiring significant judgement is the incorporation of forward-looking information and macroeconomic scenarios. IFRS 9 
requires an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of possible outcomes that 

incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. SEB Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as 

the basis for the forward-looking information in the ECL measurement. SEB Group uses both models and expert credit 

judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The objective of applying ECJ is to incorporate the estimated impact of factors 
not captured in the modelled ECL. The degree of judgement that is required to estimate expected credit losses depends 

on the outcome from calculations, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The models, assessment and 

assumptions are regularly reviewed by the risk organization of the SEB Group and approved by the SEB Group Risk 

Committee. 
 

 

. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

3. Financial risk management 

 

3.1. Credit risk 

 

The Group take on exposure to credit risk which is a risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when 
they become due. Credit risk is arising not only from loans to corporate clients and households, but also from amounts due 
from banks, guarantees issued and other financial instruments. Credit risk in securities and derivative financial instruments 

is evaluated as a counterparty credit risk. The Group structure the levels of credit risk undertaken by placing limits on the 

amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of related borrowers and to industry segments. Such risks 

are monitored on a revolving basis and are subject to monthly or quarterly and annual reviews. There are also limits set 

for credit risk by products. 

 

Risk manager in each business unit is responsible for credit risk management within the respective business unit. Risk 
Department is responsible for controlling the credit risk. The Group’s principles in measuring, monitoring and accepting 

credit risk are set out in the general Credit Policy of AS SEB banka which reflect the credit loss instructions of SEB Group 

as well as the regulations of the Latvian Financial and Capital Market Commission. This policy relates to all of the Group’s 

products where credit risk is embedded. All loan approvals and any changes to existing loan contracts are authorised by 

the relevant level of management in accordance with authorisation limits set in the Credit Policy.  

 

The main principles set out by the policy are: 

 all loans should be issued in line with the Credit Policy; 

 all loan approvals should be based on analysis; 

 the basis of lending is credibility; 

 the purpose of each loan should be fully understood; 

 the loan principal has to be in line with the borrowers’ ability to repay it; 

 the borrower should have an identified source of income and an alternative for repayment; 

 the borrowers’ investment has to be a significant proportion of the loan; 

 the loan assessment has to consider potential adverse business cycle effects; 

 the lending activity has to be in line with the Group’s objectives in relation to profitability.  

 

Credit risk exposures are monitored on a revolving basis through regular assessments of borrowers’ ability to meet 

interest and capital repayments and limits are adjusted as appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also significantly 
managed and minimised by obtaining collaterals and guarantees against credit exposures. The fair values of those are 

also reviewed on a regular basis.  

 

The credit policy of the SEB banka Group is founded on the principle that all lending shall be based on credit analysis and 

be proportionate to the repayment capacity of the customer. The customer shall be known to the Group in order to 

evaluate both capacity and character. Depending upon the customer’s creditworthiness and the nature and complexity of 
the transaction collateral and netting agreements are used to a varying extent. The principal collateral types for loans and 

advances are mortgages over residential properties, charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and 

accounts receivable. 

 

SEB banka uses internal rating system for customer risk assessment and also since the beginning of 2008 for calculation 

of capital amount needed to cover credit risk. All counterparties on whom the Group has credit exposure are assigned an 

internal risk class that reflects the risk of default on payment obligations. The risk classification scale for corporate clients 
with credit limits EUR 500 thousand and more has 16 classes with 1 being the best possible risk and 16 being the default 

class. Risk classes 1-7 are considered “investment grade’, while classes 13-16 are classified as “watch list”. SEB banka 

uses the risk classes when deciding on credit limits and in monitoring and managing the credit portfolio. 

In order to manage the credit risk on each individual customer or group of customers a total limit is decided. The limit 

represents the maximum exposure that the Group accepts given the customer’s financial status and existing business 
relations. Limits are also established for the total exposure on various countries and for settlement risks in trading 

operations. 

 

All total limits and risk classes are subject to a minimum of one review annually by a credit approval authority. High-risk 

engagements (risk classes 13-16) are subject to more frequent reviews in order to identify potential problems at an early 

stage, thereby increasing the chances of finding constructive solutions. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

3.  Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1.  Credit risk (continued) 

 

The table below shows split of loans and advances to commercial companies and financial institutions by risk class, 

excluding small risk deals:  

   31/12/18  31/12/17 

Grades Risk classes  Group  Group 

   %  % 

Investment grade 1-4  1  1 
  5-7  32  28 
      

Normal business 8-10  55  58 
  11-12  8  8 

      
Watch list 13-16  1  5 

 

For risk classification of private persons and small-size corporate clients with a credit limit up to EUR 500 thousands 

scoring models are used that enable to evaluate the credit risk level both when granting the credit and while servicing the 
credit at least once a quarter. Risk groups are used by SEB banka where A, B and C categories refer to standard business, 

but D and E are included in watch list. Accordingly, the division into risk categories is being used for credit risk management, 

including assessment of the expected losses, provisions needed and amount of capital required to cover credit risk. 

 
Key macroeconomic variable assumptions for calculating ECL allowances 

 

The SEB Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information 

incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least 
three scenarios are used. One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is 

also applied in the financial planning and budgeting process, while the other case scenarios represent more positive or 

negative outcomes. The probability weights assigned to each scenario are determined using a combination of statistical 

analysis and expert judgment. The scenarios are reviewed four times a year, or more frequently when appropriate due to 
rapid developments. The most significant macroeconomic variable assumptions of the Base scenario used as of 31 

December 2018, are set out below. Individual scenarios for SEB’s home markets are used. 

 

  2018 2019 2020 2021 

Domestic GDP growth 4.3% 3.5% 3.2% 3.0% 

Real Estate Price growth 3.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 

Unemployment rate 7.7% 7.0% 6.5% 6.5% 

Household consumption expenditure growth 4.8% 3.7% 3.0% 3.0% 

Residential real estate price growth 5.5% 5.0% 4.5% 4.0% 
 

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance of the non-retail and retail portfolios, respectively, are as 

follows: 

 

Non-retail portfolios    

(i) GDP  impact on companies' performance  

(ii) Real estate price development impact on collateral valuations 
    

Retail portfolios:   
(i) Unemployment rate impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual repayments 

(ii) Household consumption expenditure 

growth 

impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual obligations 

(iii) Residential real estate price growth impact on mortgage collateral valuations 

 
As of 31 December 2018, the probability of the negative scenario was estimated to 20-25 per cent and the probability of 

the positive scenario was 15 per cent.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

3.  Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1.  Credit risk (continued) 

 
Sensitivity analysis of macroeconomic assumptions 

In general, a worsening of the outlook on forecasted macroeconomic variables for each scenario or an increase in the 

probability of the negative scenario occurring will both increase the number of loans migrating from Stage 1 to Stage 2 

and increase the estimated ECL allowances. On the other hand, an improvement in the outlook on forecasted 
macroeconomic variables or an increase in the probability of the positive scenario occurring will have the opposite positive 

impact. 

 

Should the positive and negative scenarios be assigned 100 per cent probability of occurring, the model calculated ECL 
allowances would increase by 5 per cent and decrease by 3 per cent, respectively compared to the weighted scenario. 

 ECL allowances resulting from 

scenario 

Difference from the probability 

weighted ECL allowances, % 

Negative scenario 43.2 5% 

Positive scenario 39.9 -3% 

 
Key assumptions for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR)  

For arrangements with initial origination date as of 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 

probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at the reporting date with the 

scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 
January 2018 changes in SEB internal risk classification since initial origination are used as the primary indicator. 

 

Quantitative measures for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

 For arrangements originated prior 
to 1 January 2018 

For arrangements originated on or 
after 1 January 2018 

Watch list * * 

Investment grade 2 - 7  grades 
Annualised lifetime PD increase by 

200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

Standard monitoring 1 - 2 grades 
Annualised lifetime PD increase by 

200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

* Placement of a financial asset on watch list automatically classifies it as a significant increase in credit risk and places it 
in Stage 2. 

 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators 

occur:  
- payments are past due >30 days but < 90 days, or 

- financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the loans 

have been revised and concessions given). 

Back stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 
 

Sensitivity analysis of significant increase in credit risk (SICR) trigger assumptions  

Sensitivity of ECL to changes in the quantitative triggering approach is being analysed regularly, including tests of the 

following alternative triggers: 
- recognizing as Stage 2 SICR all exposures that have worsened risk grade of 1 grade or more; 

- reduction of Stage 2 SICR triggering thresholds to 30bp increase in annualized lifetime PD, as prescribed in EBA 

stress test methodology. 

The increase of total ECL as at 31 December 2018 resulting from the above tests is below 1.5 per cent  of the total ECL. 
Small change is due to the fact that back-stop indicators capture large portion of exposures in Stage 2 regardless of the 

changes in the quantitative trigger measures. 

 

3.2. Operational risk 

 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems (e.g., 
breakdown of IT systems, mistakes, fraud, other deficiencies in internal control) or from external events (natural 

disasters, external crime, etc.). The Group use an IT-based infrastructure for managing operational risk, security issues 

and compliance. Employees are required to register risk-related events so that risks can be properly identified, assessed, 

monitored and mitigated. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

3.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.2.  Operational risk (continued) 
 

All business and support units regularly perform self-assessments according to an internal methodology in order to 

identify and mitigate significant risks embedded in the organisation’s various business and support processes. 

 
Through a joint New Product Approval Process (NPAP) for all new or changed products, processes and/or systems, 

operational risks are identified and mitigated to protect the Group from entering into unintended risk-taking that cannot 

be immediately managed by the organisation. 

 
Regular training and education is conducted to employees in key operational risk areas. 

 

The risk function is responsible for measuring and reporting the Group’s operational risk. The risk level is analysed 

quarterly and reported to the Board and to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Council. 
 

The Group has received a permission from the Finance and Capital Markets Commission to use the Advanced 

Measurement Approach (AMA) to calculate the capital requirement for operational risk. The permission is a proof of the 

experience of the Group in working with operational risk in a structured and qualitative way.  
 

3.3. Market risk 
 

The Group take on exposure to market risks. Market risk is the risk of loss or reduction of future net income following 
changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, commodity and equity prices, including price risk in 

connection with the sale of assets or closing of positions. A clear distinction is made between market risks related to 

trading activity, i.e., trading book risks, and structural market and net interest income risks, i.e., banking book risks. 

Whereas the trading book is under a daily mark-to-market regime, positions in the banking book are typically held at 
amortised cost.   

 

Since Markets areas main focus is on sales activities and all material risk transactions are expected to be back-to-back 

hedged, there is very small and limited market risk remaining in the trading book. The liquidity portfolio which is managed 

by the treasury function consists of investments in pledgeable and highly liquid bonds. Market risk in the banking book 
arises as a result of balance sheet mismatches in currencies, interest terms and interest rate periods. The treasury function 

has overall responsibility for managing these risks. 

 

The Group Supervisory Council defines how much market risk is acceptable by setting the overall market risk tolerance, 

risk limits and general instructions. The market risk tolerance and limits are defined for the trading book and banking book. 
The risk function measures, controls and reports the market risk on a daily basis. Market risks are reported on a regular 

basis to the Management Board and to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Council. The trading book risks are managed 

within a comprehensive set of limits in Value at Risk (VaR), sensitivities, stop-loss and stress tests.  

 

When assessing market risk exposure, the Group use measures that capture losses under normal market conditions as 

well as measures that focus on extreme market situations. Market risks under normal market circumstances are measured 
using VaR as well as specific measures that are relevant for the various types of risk. These measures are complemented 

by stress tests and scenario analyses, in which potential losses under extreme market conditions are estimated. VaR 

expresses the maximum potential loss that could arise during a certain time period with a given degree of probability. The 

Group use a historical simulation VaR model with a ten-day time horizon and 99% confidence interval to measure, control 
and report VaR. The model aggregates market risk exposure for all risk types and covers a wide range of risk factors in all 

asset classes. 

 

VaR results tables show split of market risk of trading and banking books based on their components: interest rate risk, 

currency risk, equity risk and credit spread (diversification value, shows effect of decrease in risks). In order to emphasise 
highest and lowest market risk value and its decomposition for the reporting period, such terms as minimum and maximum 

risk amounts for the year are shown (these values are obtained in the following way: first, minimum/ maximum market 

risk is determined, which in this context is VaR value, and then VaR value is split into detailed market risk components).  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

3.  Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.3.  Market risk (continued) 

 

The table below shows the Group’s 10-day trading book VaR (minimum/maximum amounts at risk during the year): 

 

 Min Max 31/12/18  31/12/17 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Interest risk 0.7 3.7 3.7  2.0 

Currency risk 1.7 115.2 7.4  111.0 

Equity risk - - -  - 

Credit spreads - - -  - 

Diversification - - (3.9)  (2.0) 

Total 2.4 118.9 7.2  111.0 

 

The table below shows the Group’s 10-day banking book VaR (minimum/maximum amounts at risk during the year): 

 

 Min Max 31/12/18  31/12/17 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Interest risk 72.5 388.6 107.2  301.0 

Currency risk - - -  - 
Equity risk 243.6 835.8 780.2  253.0 

Credit spreads 2.5 8.5 5.9  3.0 

Diversification - - (113.4)  (155.0) 

Total 318.6 1,232.9 779.9  402.0 

 
 

VaR and stress tests are complemented by specific risk measures including Delta 1% for interest risk, and single and 

aggregated FX for currency risk. In addition, risk for market valued financial instruments is limited by a stop-loss limit. The 
stop-loss limit indicates the maximum loss that can incur before the risk is reduced or eliminated. 

 

The Group have exposure to the effects of fluctuations in prevailing foreign currency exchange rates as a result of its 

financial position and cash flows. The Group seek to match assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies in order 
to avoid foreign currency exposures. In addition to the internal limits, the Latvia Republic laws and regulations require that 

open positions in each foreign currency may not exceed 10% of the credit institution’s equity and that the total foreign 

currency open position may not exceed 20% of the equity. 

 
During the year 2018 and 2017 the Group was in compliance with those limits (See Note 27). 

 

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the financial position of the Group to a change in market interest rates. In the normal 

course of business, the Group encounter interest rate risk as a result of mismatches between interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities in terms of volumes and repricing periods (See Note 28). 

 

For interest rate movements, the impact on the Group’s positions is measured by the Delta 1% approach. Delta 1% is a 

measure of interest rate risk that is calculated for all interest rate-based products and is defined as the change in market 
value arising from an adverse one percentage point parallel shift in all interest rates in each currency.  

 

The level of Bank’s “Delta 1%” in 2018 has fluctuated between EUR 5.022 thousand (EUR 4,986 thousand) and EUR 
7.287 thousand (EUR 7,829 thousand) and at 31 December 2018 was EUR 5,081 thousand (EUR 5,911 thousand) (1.7% 

(1.7%) of own equity).  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

3.  Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.4. Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to refinance its existing assets or is unable to meet the demand for 

additional liquidity. Liquidity risk also entails the risk that the Group is forced to borrow at unfavourable rates or is forced 

to sell assets at a loss in order to meet its payment commitments. 

 
The Supervisory Council has established a comprehensive framework for managing the Group’s and Bank’s liquidity 

requirements in the short-term and long-term. The aim of liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group have a 

controlled liquidity risk situation, with adequate volumes of liquid assets in all relevant currencies to meet its liquidity 

requirements in all foreseeable circumstances, without incurring substantial cost. The liquidity risk is managed through 
the limits. The treasury function has the overall responsibility for liquidity management and funding. The risk function 

measures and follows up the liquidity risk on a daily basis and reports regularly limit utilisation as well as liquidity stress 

tests to the Management Board and to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Council. 

 
Liquidity management and the structuring of the balance sheet from a liquidity point of view are built on following basic 

perspectives:  the structural liquidity perspective, in which stable funding is put in relation to illiquid assets and the Group’s 

tolerance to a severe stress scenario where, in addition to a shut-down of the funding market, the Bank experiences a 

severe outflow of deposits. The structural liquidity risk is measured as the Core Gap ratio, a ratio between stable funding 
(>1 year) and illiquid assets (>1 year). Severe stress can be modelled by combining assumptions of a wholesale funding 

market shutdown with assumptions of deposit outflows and drawdowns on commitments, etc. This is measured as the 

Stressed Survival Horizon. In addition, the Group monitors and reports both other internal metrics (e.g. loan to deposit ratio 

and funding concentration) and regulatory Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) (See Note 
29). 

 

3.5. Capital adequacy and capital management 
 

Group’s and Bank’s capital adequacy target, capital allocation and return on allocated capital are risk-based measures 

built on an assessment of all identified risks incurred in the operations.  

 

Capital management is forward-looking and aligned with short-term and long-term business plans and the macroeconomic 

environment. Management of the Bank uses an internal model to calculate how much capital is necessary to cover its risks 
(so called Economic Capital). Stress testing is an important parameter when assessing capital adequacy and setting 

capital targets. This is evaluated in the annual internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP).  

 

As part of the capital planning, the Group maintains a recovery plan which assesses possible capital contingency measures 

and outlines governance in the event of a stressed capital situation.  

 

Capital management ensures that capital is used where it can generate the best risk-adjusted returns. The management 

of the Bank uses an internal capital allocation framework (business equity) that allocates the capital needed based on the 

risks taken by the business units. 

  

Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the Group’s capital resources to cover credit risks, operational and market 

risks arising from the portfolio of assets of the Group and the exposure from commitments and contingent liabilities of the 

Group. 

 

The Group’s capital adequacy ratios are being calculated in accordance with Basel III (CRR 575/2013) requirements. 

 

In accordance with the Basel III requirements, the Group’s risk based capital adequacy ratios as at 31 December 2018 
were 17.54% (20.27%) and 18.72% (22.49%) respectively which is above the minimum required to maintain a capital 

adequacy ratio of 8% of risk weighted assets and commitments and contingent liabilities (See Notes 30 and 40.6). 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

4. Corporate governance 

 
Bank and its subsidiaries is part of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (SEB AB) group. SEB AB. SEB AB as the parent 

company is responsible for establishing a group structure and a corporate governance framework with clearly defined 
roles and responsibilities and exercising adequate oversight over subsidiaries. SEB AB arranges the governance and 

oversight through  Supervisory Council of the Bank and Baltic Division Management Group. Baltic division is one of five SEB 

AB groups divisions. 

 

Bank has a legal corporate governance structure compromising of the Management Board and Supervisory Council. The 

first is the executive management level while the latter is a body empowered to set Bank’s strategy, objectives and overall 

direction, and to oversee and monitor Management Board ‘s performance. 

 

The Head of Baltic division is also elected as the Chairman of the Supervisory Council. The Supervisory Council has formed 

following committees: 

 Remuneration and Human Resources Committee (consists of three 3 members); 

 Audit and Compliance Committee (consists of three 4 members); 

 Risk Committee (consists of three 4 members). 
 

Members of the Management Board of the Bank is accountable to the Supervisory Council and Baltic Division Management 
Group. Member of the Management Board of the Bank owe the duty of care and loyalty towards  the Bank. Bank together 

with its subsidiaries are separate legal entities and form  separate financial group that are subject to local regulations and 
fall under the supervision of local financial  supervisory authority. Bank’s Management and Supervisory Council’s members 

and other senior management take and maintain full responsibility over the local business operations, organisation and 

risk management. 

 

There have been no significant changes in corporate governance and organisational structure of the Group compared to 

the previous reporting period. 

 

Bank’s Management Board consists of 4 Members of the Board, which all have worked in their positions for more than 

three years. 

 

The Supervisory Council of Bank consists of 6 Members, from which one is independent member. One of the Supervisory 

Council Members has been in his position already for ten years, 3 Members has been in their positions for three years, 1 
member for one year and one member for less than one year. The following diversity aspects exist in the composition of 

Supervisory Council: 

 Age balance – the age diversity of the Council are as follows: 1 member was born in the 1950s, 2 in 1960s and 
3 in 1970s.  

 Geographical providence – the Council consists of persons of Swedish (2), Finish (2) and Baltic (2) 
backgrounds.  

 Educations and professional background – the Council collectively have more than adequate knowledge, skills 
and experience in banking industry. 

 Independency – at least 2 committees (the Risk Committee and the Remuneration and Human Resources 
Committee) have member who is independent.  5 out of 6 members of the Council are related to SEB Group.  

 

Management Boards of subsidiaries of the Bank SIA ”SEB līzings”, IPAS “SEB Investment Management”,  un AS “SEB 

atklātais pensiju fonds” consists of 2 Members of the Board, and all members have been in their positions at least three 

years. All subsidiaries except for SIA ”SEB līzings” have Supervisory Council. 
 

Prevention of conflicts of interest 

Overall Groups way of working, including ethical matters, is described in the Code of Conduct. Bank has adopted Conflict 

of Interest policy (which is available publically https://www.seb.lv/uzkrajumi-ieguldijumi/mifid-markets-financial-
instruments-directive) and related instructions (such as Personal Account Dealing, Gifts and Business Entertainment, etc.) 

to manage conflicts of interest, that are updated on regular bases. Those documents specify the procedures to be followed 

by the employee in case of identification of circumstances which constitute or may give rise to a Conflict of Interest 

entailing a material risk of damage to the interests of one or more clients, divisions or other SEB AB Group entities. 
 

Bank, its subsidiaries and other related companies which are organized and existing under the laws of the Republic of 

Latvia are an integrated part of the SEB AB Group and are expected to locally implement and follow all relevant SEB AB 
Group’s policies and instructions. 
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Internal control system 

The Group and other related companies which are organized and existing under the laws of the Republic of Latvia are an 
integrated part of the SEB group and are expected to locally implement and follow all relevant SEB group’s policies and 

instructions. A comprehensive internal controls system has been implemented according to respective requirements. 

 

Proper three lines of defence have been implemented throughout the SEB AB Group.  

 

The primary responsibility for managing risk taking activities lies with business units and their management. Business 

management hence is expected to implement appropriate organization, procedures and support systems to ensure that a 

sufficient system of internal controls is established.  

 

A 2nd line of defence is maintained through Risk control and Compliance functions. Risk function is independent and 

functionally segregated from the risk-taking units throughout the organization. Risk function amongst other is expected to 

promote risk culture, governance and internal controls as well as monitor, quantify, analyse and report on all material 

risks. 

 

The Compliance function is independent from the business organization, responsible for ensuring compliance quality and 

for driving and promoting compliance issues. The Compliance function shall inform, advise, control and follow-up on all 

compliance issues. The Compliance function shall actively advise the business and management, thereby securing that the 

business is carried out in compliance with regulatory requirements and reinforcing trustworthiness in the eyes of the SEB 

customers and shareholders and the financial markets. 

 

Based on outsourcing agreements the second line of defence controls for the Bank subsidiaries are performed by the Risk 
department and Compliance of the Bank. Centralized 2nd line of defence function further ensures application of all 

relevant SEB AB Group wide best practice in the risk governance and control. 

 

The Internal Audit function is an independent assurance function commissioned by the Supervisory Council of Bank and 

the Audit and Compliance Committee. The Department also covers regulated and direct subsidiaries of Bank. The 

Department is directly accountable to the Chairman of the Supervisory Council of bank and the Head of Group Internal 

Audit of the SEB AB) Group. The Department is an integral part of Group Internal Audit. 

 

Group Internal Audit, an assurance function, is the third line of defence, responsible for evaluating governance, risk 
management and control processes within first and second lines of defence. Group Internal Audit is not a replacement for 

sound risk management practices. 

 

Business continuity 

Business Continuity Management (BCM) is the process of ensuring that the organization is prepared to respond to and 
operate throughout a period of major disruption. The purpose of BCM in the SEB AB Group is to protect the long-term 

interests of our staff, customers and other stakeholders by improving resilience in all areas of the organization in order to 

limit financial and reputational loss.  

 

The Group follows SEB AB Group’s requirements and best practice in business continuity management. The annual BCM 
programme requires that the main steps of the BCM process must be performed, updated or reviewed on a regular basis, 

at least once per year or if the scope of the Plan changes due to external or internal changes, such as organizational 

changes, new products/processes or a new type of threatening disruption.  

 

The Plans is registered and maintained in the group common BCM application Assurance. Tests and exercises provide 

validation of the plan content and also serve as training to personnel. Business critical processes, applications and 
hardware are tested at alternative site at least annually to ensure that they can be resumed there to ensure business 

continuity. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

5. Interest income and expense 

 
 2018  2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Interest income    

Interest on balances due from credit institutions 0.3  0.1 
Interest on loans and advances to non-banking customers 66.3  65.8 

out of this income at effective interest rate 61.5  60.3 

Interest on Treasury bills and other fixed income securities 0.3  0.3 
Other interest income 0.6  0.9 

Total interest income 67.5  67.1 

    

Interest expense    
Interest on balances due to credit institutions -0.9  - 1.2 

Interest on deposits due to customers -0.5  - 0.4 

Contributions paid to the Deposit Guarantee Fund -3.1  - 3.0 

Contributions paid to the Single Resolution Fund -0.5  - 0.6 
Negative interest rate expenses  -1.5  - 2.6 

Other interest expense -1.4  - 1.1 

Total interest expense -7.9  - 8.9 

    

Net interest income 59.6  58.2 

 

 

6. Fee and commission income and expense 
 

 2018  2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Fee and commission income    
Payment transfer fees 4.8  4.6 

Commission income from lending operations*  2.8  2.7 

Fees for account service 12.4  11.0 

Commissions on cash operations 0.7  1.0 
Commissions on transactions with settlement cards  21.5  22.1 

Commissions on financial instruments 0.2  0.2 

Commissions on guarantees 1.2  1.1 

Commissions on asset management 5.8  8.3 
Other fee and commission income 4.3  5.0 

Total fee and commission income 53.7  56.0 

    

Fee and commission expense    
Correspondent bank service charges -0.2  - 0.2 

Commissions on settlement cards -12.7  - 14.4 

Commissions on securities -1.6  - 1.5 

Commissions on cash transactions -0.8  - 0.7 
Commission expense from lending operations* -0.5  - 0.4 

Other fee and commission expense -1.7  - 0.6 

Total fee and commission expense -17.5  - 17.8 

    

Net fee and commission income 36.2  38.2 

 

 

* Lending operations include income and expense in relation to loan, leasing, letter of credit and guarantee contracts, 

which are short-term and do not constitute interest income or expense, but are of administrative nature for arrangement 
or reorganisation of credits. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

7. Net financial income 

 
Net gains from transactions with financial instruments represents the profit or loss from trading activities, changes in fair 

value and revaluation of foreign currency positions excluding net interest income or expense and fees and commissions 

incurred in respect of those transactions. 

 
 2018  2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Net gain from sale of securities and equity instruments    
Securities at fair value through profit or loss -  0.2 

Equity instruments 2.2  - 

 2.2  0.2 

    

Net loss from revaluation of securities and equity instruments    
Securities at fair value through profit or loss -0.2  - 

    

Net gain from currency exchange  3.3  2.6 

Net gain / (loss) from revaluation of foreign currency positions -1.9  6.3 
Net (loss) / gain from financial derivatives 3.9  - 5.5 

    

Net financial income 7.3  3.6 

 
 

8. Other operating income  

 

 2018  2017 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Net gain / (loss) from repossessed collateral *    

Income / (loss ) from disposal of repossessed collateral -0.3  - 
Improvement / (impairment) of repossessed collateral 0.1  0.1 

Maintenance of repossessed collateral -  - 0.2 

 -0.2  - 0.1 

    

Net other operating income    
Rental income under operating leases             0.3    0.3 

Income from sale of services to related companies             1.6     1.7 

Other operating income             1.8     1.7 

Pension fund members’ earnings                  -      - 0.3 
Professional services for the primary activities - 0.2     - 0.3 

- 3.5  3.1 

Other operating income 3.3  3.0 

 

* The Group has obtained assets by taking possession of assets held as collateral. Repossessed collateral include buildings 

and land plots and are classified in the balance sheet within “Other non-financial assets” (see Note 20).  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

9. Personnel expense 

 
Remuneration and related social security expense includes remuneration to the Board of Directors and other personnel of 

the Group as well as related social security payments and other benefits. 

 2018  2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Remuneration to the Board of Directors 0.5  0.6 

Remuneration to other personnel 20.0  19.6 

Social security contributions 4.7  4.6 
 Payments to defined contribution plan 0.4  0.2 

Total remuneration and related social security expense 25.6  25.0 

 

The average number of personnel employed by the Group and Bank during the respective year is specified as follows: 

 

 2018  2017 

    

Members of the Board of Directors 4  4 
Other managing personnel 98  86 

Staff  835  915 

Total number of personnel employed 937  1,005 

 
 

The total number of personnel employed by the Group as at 31 December 2018 was 937 (977). 

 

The Group pays social security contributions to state pension insurance and to the state funded pension scheme in 
accordance with Latvian legislation. In accordance with the Rules of the Cabinet of Ministers of Latvia Republic 70% 

(2017: 72%) of the social security contributions are used to fund the state defined contribution pension system. 

 

10. Other expenses  
 

 2018  2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Rent expense 4.6  5.1 

Communication expense 1.0  1.2 

Office expense 1.6  1.6 

Sponsorship and marketing 1.6  1.6 
Transportation costs 0.5  0.5 

Training and other staff costs  1.3  1.1 

Consulting and professional fees 6.9  4.9 

Insurance 1.9  2.2 
Security costs 0.3  0.3 

IT maintenance and development expenses 3.1  2.7 

Utilities, repairs etc. 0.8  1.7 

Total administrative expenses 23.6  22.9 

 

Auditors of financial statements provided non audit services in amount of EUR 23 thousand (EUR 123 thousand),mainly 

IT security testing services.    
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

11. Credit loss 

  
 2018  2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Impairment gains or losses - Stage 1 -0.5   
Impairment gains or losses - Stage 2 -0.7   

Impairment gains or losses - Stage 3 -0.8   

Impairment gains or losses 1) -2.0   

Net provisions 2)   -3.7 

    
Write-offs and recoveries    

Total write-offs -16.0  -12.5 

Reversals of ECL allowances 12.1  12.5 

Write-offs not previously provided for -3.9  0.0 

Recovered from previous write-offs 2.1  1.7 

Net write-offs -1.8  1.7 
    

Net expected credit losses 1) -3.8   

Net credit losses 2)   -2.0 

Net ECL level, % 0.13   

Credit loss level, %   0.08 
 
1) Based on IFRS9 expected loss model. Consists of increase due to origination, decrees due to derecognition and changes 

due to changes in credit risk. 
2) Based on IAS 39 incurred loss model. 
 

12. Income tax expenses  

 

Income tax expenses comprise the following items: 

 2018  2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Current tax expense -  6.5 
Previous years’ correction -  - 0.4 

Change in deferred income tax 0.7  0.6 

Total income taxes 0.7  6.7 

 
The Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities from profit earned by subsidiaries SIA SEB līzings un IPAS “SEB 

Investment Management” in 2018. The tax will become payable when dividends are distributed. 

 

The Group’s tax charges on operating profit for 2017  differ from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic 
tax rate as follows:  

 

 2017 
 EUR mil. 
  

Profit before tax 47.7 

Tax calculated at 15%  7.1 
Nodokļa korekcija:  

Non-deductible expenses 0.2 

Non-taxable income and tax relief -0.9 

Previously unrecognised deferred tax items 0.7 
Previous years’ CIT correction -0.4 

Income tax expense 6.7 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

13. Cash and balances with central bank  

 
 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Cash 34.3  25.1 
Correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia 315.8  545.0 

Total cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia 350.1  570.1 

 

The correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia reflects the balance of the Bank's correspondent account on which 
interest is paid in the amount of the compulsory reserve requirement.  

 

The Bank is required to comply with minimum reserve requirements set by the Bank of Latvia. This requires the Bank’s 

monthly average EUR balance on its correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia to exceed a specified minimum during 
the maintenance period of requirements.  

 

The Bank was in compliance with the reserve requirement during the reporting period and during the previous period. 

 
14. Loans to credit institutions and the public 

 

 31/12/2018 1)  31/12/2017 2) 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Credit institutions 58.5  126.9 

Receivables from credit institutions 58.5  126.9 

    

General governments 41.7  36.9 

Other financial corporations 11.4  1.0 
Non-financial corporations 1,896.7  1,636.2 

Households 1,008.1  963.2 

Loans to the public 2,957.9  2,637.3 

 Total loans to credit institutions and the public 3,016.4  2,764.2 

 
1) Based on IFRS9 expected loss model.  
2) Based on IAS 39 incurred loss model. 
 

As at 31 December 2018 loans to credit institutions and the public were classified at amortised cost (AmC) in accordance 

with IFRS 9. As at 31 December 2017 loans to credit institutions and the public were classified at as loans and receivables 

(LaR) in accordance with IAS 39.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

14. Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
Credit exposure and expected credit loss (ECL) allowances by stage 31/12/2018 

 

The table shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance sheet measured at amortised cost and nominal amounts 

for exposures off-balance divided by stage as mean to put ECL allowances in context to overall exposures levels. For trade 
receivables a simplified approach based on past-due information is used to calculate loss. 

 

Group Gross carrying 

amounts/ 
Nominal 

amounts 

ECL 

allowances 

Carrying 

amounts/ 
Net amounts 

ECL 

coverage 
ratio, % 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  

     
Stage 1 (12-month ECL)     

Loans to credit institutions and the public 1) 2,760.9 1.7 2,759.2 0.06 

Other financial assets 2) 27.8 - 27.8 - 

Financial assets 2,788.7 1.7 2,787.0 0.06 

Financial guarantees and loan commitments 783.1 0.2 782.9 0.03 

Total 3,571.8 1.9 3,569.9 0.05 
Stage 1 share of total ECL allowances  4.62%   

     

Stage 2 (lifetime ECL)     

Loans to credit institutions and the public 230.1 5.9 224.2 2.56 
Other financial assets 2) 0.2 - 0.2 - 

Financial assets 230.3 5.9 224.4 2.56 

Financial guarantees and loan commitments 13.9 0.1 13.8 0.72 

Total 244.2 6.0 238.2 2.46 

Stage 2 share of total ECL allowances  14.60%   
     

Stage 3 (credit impaired/lifetime ECL)     

Loans to credit institutions and the public 3) 65.9 33.0 32.9 50.08 

Other financial assets 2) - - - - 

Financial assets 65.9 33.0 32.9 50.08 
Financial guarantees and loan commitments 2.4 0.2 2.2 8.33 

Total 68.3 33.2 35.1 48.61 

Stage 3 share of total ECL allowances  80.78%   

     
Total     

Loans to credit institutions and the public 1) 3) 3,056.9 40.6 3,016.3 1.33 

Other financial assets 2) 28.0 - 28.0 - 

Financial assets 3,084.9 40.6 3,044.3 1.32 

Financial guarantees and loan commitments 799.4 0.5 798.9 0.06 

Total 3,884.3 41.1 3,843.2 1.06 
1) Including demand deposits credit institutions EUR 57.5m - whose calculated ECL is immaterial  
2) Including trade and client receivables 
3) Whereof gross carrying amounts EUR 5.2m and ECL allowances EUR 5.2m for Purchased or originated credit impaired 
loans 

 

Stage 3 loans / Total loans – gross, % 2.20 

Stage 3 loans / Total loans – net, % 1.11 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

14. Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
Loans to credit institutions and the public and expected credit loss (ECL) allowances by customer segments 

 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts, ECL allowances and net carrying amounts as at 31 December 2018 based 

on IFRS 9 expected loss model. 
 

Group 

31/12/2018 

Gross carrying amounts / Nominal amounts  ECL allowances  Net carrying 

amount / 

 Net amount 

 Stage 1 

(12-

month 

ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime 

ECL) 

Stage 3 

(credit 

impaired/ 

lifetime 

ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 

(12-month 

ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime 

ECL) 

Stage 3 

(credit 

impaired/ 

lifetime 

ECL) 

Total   

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

            

Central bank 0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 

General governments 51.4 - - 51.4  - - - -  51.4 

Credit institutions1) 90.9 0.1 - 91.0  - - - -  91.0 

Other financial corporations 114.0 0.1 - 114.1  - - - -  114.1 

Non-financial corporations 2,317.1 169.0 35.1 2,521.2  0.9 4.8 18.2 23.9  2,497.3 

Households 998.3 75.0 33.2 1,106.5  1.0 1.2 15.0 17.2  1,089.3 

 3,571.8 244.2 68.3 3,884.3  1.9 6.0 33.2 41.1  3,843.2 

1) Including demand deposits credit institutions EUR 57.5m - whose calculated ECL is immaterial  

 
The table below shows gross carrying amounts, provisions and net carrying amounts of comparatives figures as at 31 

December 2017 based on IAS 39 incurred loss model. 

 
Group 

31/12/2017 

Gross carrying amounts  Provisions  Net 

carrying 

amount 

 Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired  

Past due 
but not 

impaired  

Impaired Total  Specific 
allowance for 

financial assets 
individually 

estimated 

Specific 
allowance for 

financial 
assets, 

collectively 
estimated 

Collective 
allowance 

for incurred 
but not 

reported 
losses 

Total   

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

            

General governments 36.7 0.2 - 36.9  - - - -  36.9 

Credit institutions 126.9 - - 126.9  - - - -  126.9 
Other financial corporations 1.0 - - 1.0  - - - -  1.0 

Non-financial corporations 1,609.0 15.2 42.3 1,666.5  23.7 2.4 4.2 30.3  1,636.2 
Households 923.2 33.2 32.4 988.8  0.1 20.4 5.1 25.6  963.2 

 2,696.8 48.6 74.7 2,820.1  23.8 22.8 9.3 55.9  2,764.2 
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14. Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
The following table provides the Group’s loan portfolio quality assessment split by the type of loans and advances to 

customers before allowances for loan impairment as at 31 December 2017: 
 

  

Loans 
Utilised credit 

lines* Leases 

Credit 
cards & 

overdrafts 
Total 

  
EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

       

Loans and advances to customers neither                               past 
due nor impaired     

 

Grades Risk classes      
       

Investment grade 1-4 0.7 - 0.7 - 1.4 

  5-7 278.2 - 28.5 10.8 317.5 
       

Normal business 8-10 792.6 - 138.2 82.4 1,013.2 

  11-12 98.8 - 15.8 15.8 130.4 
       

Watch list 13-16 57.7 - 0.8 2.5 61.0 
       

Retail companies       

Normal business A,B,C 75.6 - 42.1 10.6 128.3 

Watch list D,E 15.2 - 5.9 3.4 24.5 
       

Private individuals       

Normal business A,B,C 794.1 - 34.9 21.0 850.0 

Watch list D,E 44.3 - 0.1 0.9 45.3 
       

Total loans and advances to customers neither 

past due nor impaired 2,157.2 - 267.0 147.4 2,571.6 
 

Loans and advances to customers past due but 
not impaired      

Past due up to 30 days 27.2 - 4.3 1.0 32.5 

Past due 30-60 days 4.9 - 0.2 - 5.1 

Past due 60-90 days 3.0 - 0.6 - 3.6 

Past due over 90 days 36.4 - 0.9 1.8 39.1 

Total loans and advances to customers past 

due but not impaired 71.5 - 6.0 2.8 80.3 

 
     

Total loans and advances to customers 

individually impaired**  33.1 - 6.9 1.2 41.2 

 

* After implementation of the new banking system in February 2017, the credit line service was eliminated and the 

existing provisions for credit lines were adequately divided between services with similar functionality. Management of 
the Group did not reclassify related comparatives, as such reclassification is technically complex task and would require 

inadequate resources for preparation of this data. 

 

Based on internal model the level of provisions for potential loss is assessed. 
 

** The individually assessed assets are classified under position “Total loans and advances to customers individually 

impaired” based on the following criteria – they are customers’ with the assigned risk class 16, their value of collateral 

does not cover both principal amount and accrued interest, including penalty fees, they have a potential loss and 
provisions are made at 100%.  
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14. Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
Loans to credit institutions and the public by economic sector 

 

Economic sector risk concentration within the Group’s loans to credit institutions and the public are as follows: 

 
    31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil. %  EUR mil. % 

      

General government 41.7 1.38%  36.9 1.33% 

Credit institutions 58.5 1.94%  126.9 4.59% 
Other financial corporation 11.4 0.38%  1.0 0.04% 

Non-financial corporation      

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 235.9 7.82%  219.6 7.94% 

Mining and quarrying 3.2 0.11%  3.9 0.14% 
Manufacturing 194.7 6.45%  184.4 6.67% 

Electricity, gas, heat and air-conditioning supply 223.8 7.42%  120.4 4.36% 

Water supply 12.4 0.41%  11.1 0.40% 

Construction 18.9 0.63%  20.4 0.74% 
Wholesale and retail trade 300.0 9.95%  221.8 8.02% 

Transportation and storage 227.6 7.55%  205.3 7.43% 

Accommodation and food service activities 9.6 0.32%  9.8 0.35% 

Information and communication services 29.3 0.97%  57.0 2.06% 
Real estate activities 528.1 17.51%  464.1 16.79% 

Professional, scientific and technical services 4.6 0.15%  9.0 0.33% 

Administration and support service activities 34.6 1.15%  31.0 1.12% 

Education 1.3 0.04%  1.5 0.05% 
Human health and social work activities 13.2 0.44%  10.3 0.37% 

Arts, entertainment and recreation 3.8 0.13%  4.8 0.17% 

Other services 55.7 1.85%  61.8 2.24% 

Households 1,008.1 33.40%  963.2 34.86% 
      

Total loans to credit institutions and the public 3,016.4 100.00%  2,764.2 100.00% 

Balances at 31 December 2017 is restated using improved classification by economic sector 
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14. Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
Credit risk exposure by risk classification category 

 

The table shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance divided 

by stage and risk classification category. The risk classification categories are further explained in Note 3 
 

Group 

31/12/2018 

Stage 1 

(12-month 

ECL) 

Stage 2 

(lifetime 

ECL) 

Stage 3 

(credit 

impaired/ 
lifetime ECL) 

Purchased or 

originated 

credit 
impaired 

Total 

  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Risk classification category      

Grade Risk classes      
Investment grade 1) 1-7 974.1 0.1 - - 974.2 

Standard monitoring 8-12 1,467.3 64.9 - - 1,532.2 

Watch list 13-15 1.3 64.9 - - 66.2 

Default 16 - - 26.2 5.2 31.4 
       

Retail companies       

Normal business A, B, C 124.6 21.8 - - 146.4 

Watch list D 9.2 16.2 0.2 - 25.6 
Default E - 0.3 3.5 - 3.8 

       

Private individuals       

Normal business A, B, C 960.2 31.4 0.2 - 991.8 
Watch list D 14.6 36.9 0.5 - 52.0 

Default E - 0.2 32.5 - 32.7 

  3,551.3 236.7 63.1 5.2 3,856.3 
1) Including demand deposits credit institutions EUR 57.5m - whose calculated ECL is immaterial 
 

The table shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance divided 

by classification category for comparative figures as at 31 December 2017 based on IAS 39 incurred loss model. 

 
Group 

31/12/2017 

Neither past 

due nor 

impaired 

Past due but 

not impaired 

Impaired Total 

  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 
Risk classification category     

Grade Risk classes     

Investment grade 1-7 730.2 - - 730.2 

Standard monitoring 8-12 1,421.9 1.0 - 1,422.9 
Watch list 13-15 64.7 - - 64.7 

Default 16 - 9.8 40.0 49.8 

      

Retail companies      
Normal business A, B, C 152.5 2.6 - 155.1 

Watch list D 23.8 2.1 - 25.9 

Default E 0.4 0.3 3.6 4.3 

      
Private individuals      

Normal business A, B, C 924.3 0.1 - 924.4 

Watch list D 38.5 23.7 - 62.2 

Default E - 9.4 34.7 44.1 

  3,356.3 49.0 78.3 3,483.6 
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14. Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
Credit-impaired loans and collateral by category 

 

The table shows the Group’s gross carrying amounts and ECL allowances for credit-impaired loans on balance and nominal 

amounts for exposures off-balance divided by stage 3 and the fair value of collateral held for these assets as at 31 
December 2018. 

 

Stage 3 (credit impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Gross carrying 

amounts 

ECL 

allowances 

Carrying 

amounts 

Fair value of 

collateral held 
 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

     

Non-financial corporations 35.1 18.2 16.9 13.9 

Households 33.2 15.0 18.2 16.7 

Total 68.3 33.2 35.1 30.6 

 

The table shows the total fair value of collateral held for these assets as at 31 December 2018. 

 
 Fair value of collateral held 

 EUR mil. 

  

General governments 22.6 
Other financial corporations 6.8 

Non-financial corporations 1,338.4 

Households 893.6 

Total 2,261.4 

 

 

The table shows gross the Group’s carrying amounts and provisions for financial assets subject to impairment that are 

past due or impaired and the fair value of collateral held for these assets as at 31 December 2017. 
 

Past due or impaired Gross carrying 

amounts 

Provisions Carrying 

amounts 

Fair value of 

collateral held 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 
     

Non-financial corporations 57.5 30.3 27.2 5.6 

Households 65.6 25.6 40.0 10.8 

Total 123.1 55.9 67.2 16.4 
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14. Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of expected credit loss (ECL) allowances 

 

Movements of allowance accounts for on balance exposures (loans to credit institutions and the public, other financial 

assets) and off-balance exposures (Financial guarantees and Loan commitments) as at 31 December 2018. 
 

 Stage 1 (12-month 

ECL) 

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/ 
lifetime ECL) 

Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Loans to credit institutions and the public, 
other financial assets 1)   

  

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2018 2 ) 1.2 5.1 43.2 49.5 

Increases due to origination and acquisition 0.7 - 0.2 0.9 
Decreases due to derecognition -0.1 -0.2 -2.4 -2.7 
Changes due to change in credit risk, net -0.1 1.0 3.7 4.6 

Decrease in allowances due to write-offs - - -12.1 -12.1 
Exchange rate differences - - 0.4 0.4 

ECL allowance as of 31 December 2018 1.7 5.9 33.0 40.6 

     
Financial guarantees and Loan commitments     

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2018 2 ) 0.3 0.2 0.9 1.4 
Increases due to origination and acquisition 0.4 - 0.1 0.5 
Decreases due to derecognition -0.2 -0.1 -0.2 -0.5 

Changes due to change in credit risk, net -0.3 - -0.6 -0.9 
Decrease in allowances due to write-offs - - - - 
Exchange rate differences - - - - 

ECL allowance as of 31 December 2018 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.5 

     

Total loans to credit institutions and the 
public, other financial assets and Financial 
guarantees and Loan commitments   

  

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2018 2 ) 1.5 5.3 44.1 50.9 
Increases due to origination and acquisition 1.1 - 0.3 1.4 
Decreases due to derecognition -0.3 -0.3 -2.6 -3.2 

Changes due to change in credit risk, net -0.4 1.0 3.1 3.7 
Decrease in allowances due to write-offs - - -12.1 -12.1 
Exchange rate differences - - 0.4 0.4 

Total ECL allowance as of 31 December 2018 1.9 6.0 33.2 41.1 

1) Includes trade receivables 
2) IFRS 9 
 

Movements of impairment allowance accounts for on balance exposures (loans to credit institutions and the public) as at 

31 December 2017. 

 
 Total 

 EUR mil. 

Total loans to credit institutions and the public  

Impairment allowance as of 31 December 2016 65.6 
Increases in allowances 3.7 

Recovered from write-offs -1.8 

Release to Income statement 1.9 

Write offs -12.5 
Exchange rate differences 0.9 

Total allowances as of 31 December 2017 1) 55.9 
1) IAS 39 
  



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

 

 56 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

14. Loans to credit institutions and the public (continued) 

 
Lease receivables 

 

The table shows lease receivables by maturity profile: 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

 Manufacturing and agricultural equipment 64.3  56.4 

 Transport vehicles 216.3  204.6 

 Other 7.5  18.8 

Total leases 288.1  279.8 

 

The table shows lease receivables by maturity profile: 

 31.12.2018.  31.12.2017. 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Overdue 0.5  6.2 

Not later than 1 year 19.0  25.9 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 234.8  204.4 

Later than 5 years 33.8  43.3 

Total leases, net 288.1  279.8 

 
15. Debt securities and equity instruments 

 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Debt securities 1)     

Government bonds 254.9  287.4 

Total debt securities 254.9  287.4 

    

Equity instruments 2)     
Equity shares 5.9  3.5 

Total investment securities available-for-sale  5.9  3.5 

    

Total debt securities and equity instruments 260.8  290.9 

 
1) As at 31 December 2018 debt securities are classified as Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVMPL) in accordance with 

IFRS 9, while as at 31 December 2017 as Fair Value Option (FVO) in accordance with IAS 39, see also Note 1.24. 

 
2) As at 31 December 2018 equity instruments are classified as Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVMPL) in accordance 

with IFRS 9, while as at 31 December 2017 as Available-for-sale (AFS) in accordance with IAS 39, see also Note 1.24. 

 

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 debt securities portfolio was neither past due nor ECL was material. Maximum 
exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount. 
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15. Debt securities and equity instruments (continued) 

 
The following table shows the division of debt securities and equity instruments held by the Group by listed and unlisted 

securities: 

 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 Listed Unlisted Total  Listed Unlisted Total 
 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

        

Debt securities        

Government bonds        
Latvian government bonds  204.9 - 204.9  233.3 - 233.3 

Lithuanian government bonds 50.0 - 50.0  49.9 - 49.9 

Finnish government bonds - - -  4.2 - 4.2 

Total debt securities 254.9  254.9  287.4 - 287.4 
        

Equity instruments        

Equity shares        

In OECD corporate entities - 5.9 5.9  - 3.5 3.5 

Total equity instruments  - 5.9 5.9  - 3.5 3.5 
        

Total debt securities and equity 

instruments  
254.9 5.9 260.8  287.4 3.5 290.9 

 
The following table shows the division of the Group’s debt securities by rating agency designation: 

SEB risk 

classes 

Moody’s  

ratings 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

  EUR mil. EUR mil. 

    

1-4 Aaa to A3 254.9 287.4 

5-7 Baa1 to Baa3 - - 

8-10 Ba1 to Ba3 - - 

11-12 B1 to B2 - - 

13-16 B3 to C - - 

 Total 254.9 287.4 

All debt securities are measured at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Mandatorily. 

 

16. Derivatives 
 

The Group utilise the following derivative instruments: currency forwards representing commitments to purchase foreign 

and domestic currency, currency and interest rate swaps representing commitments to exchange one set of cash flows 

for another and equity index options. Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, 
fixed rate for floating rate). Options are derivatives establishing liabilities for their seller and entitling (but not obliging) 

the buyer to buy (call option) or to sell (put option) a contracted amount of underlying assets for an agreed price. 

 

The Group's credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the forward or swap contracts if counterparties fail to 
perform their obligation. To control the level of credit risk taken the Group assess counterparties using the same 

techniques as for its lending activities. Maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the notional amount of derivative 

instrument. 

 
At 31 December 2018 derivative financial instruments were neither past due nor impaired.  
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16. Derivatives (continued) 

 

The fair value in accordance with internal risk ratings of derivatives for assets is as follows: 
 

Risk class 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
1 – 7 31.1  21.3 

8 – 12 2.9  1.7 

13 – 16 -  0.2 

Total 34.0  23.2 

 
The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognised 

on the balance sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of 

the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative instruments 

become favourable or unfavourable as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative 
to their terms. 

 

The Group’s notional amounts and fair values of derivative instruments held for trading are set out in the following table: 

 
 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 Contract / 

notional 

amount 

Fair value  Contract / 

notional 

amount 

Fair value 

 Assets Liabilities  Assets 

 

Liabilities 

 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

        
Derivative financial 

instruments 

       

Currency forwards 7.5 - -0.1  10.3 - - 

Currency swaps 91.7 0.2 -0.1  52.6 0.2 - 0.1 
Interest rate swaps 1,725.6 4.7 -4.9  1,445.4 4.1 - 4.0 

Cross-currency 

interest rate swaps 
923.5 29.1 -29.0  900.0 18.9 - 19.0 

Equity index options - -   1.9 - - 
        

Total  34.0 -34.1   23.2 - 23.1 

 
17. Intangible assets  

 

The following is included in the net book value of intangible assets: 

 
 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Computer software excluding prepayments 7.5  8.9 

Software development 1.7  0.4 

    

Total intangible assets 9.2  9.3 

 

Software development includes investments related to the development of a new core banking system which was 
launched to operations in February 2017. The value of the new core system of the Bank as at 31 December 2018 is EUR 

6.0 million (at 31 December 2017 EUR 7.0 million) as and its estimated useful life is 8 years from the introduction of the 

system. 
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17. Intangible assets (continued) 

 
The following table presents movements in the Group’s net book value of software: 

 

 2018  2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Historical cost    

1 January 20.2  10.7 
Additions  0.1  11.1 

Disposals -0.1  - 1.6 

31 December  20.2  20.2 

    

Accumulated amortisation    
1 January 11.3  10.2 

Charge for the period 1.5  1.5 

Disposals -0.1  - 0.4 

31 December 12.7  11.3 
    

Net book value    

31 December 7.5  8.9 

 

18. Property, plant and equipment  

 

The following are included in the net book value of property, plant and equipment: 
 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    
Leasehold improvements 1.6  1.3 

    

Office equipment:    

   Electronic data processing equipment  3.8  3.3 
   Other office equipment, fixtures and fittings 0.8  1.0 

Total office equipment 4.6  4.3 

    

Assets leased to customers under operating leases 

(transport vehicles) 2.5  3.0 
    

Total property and equipment excluding prepayments 8.7  8.5 

    

Prepayments for property and equipment  0.2  0.4 

    

Total property, plant and equipment at net book value 
including prepayments 8.9  9.0 
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18.  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
The following changes in the Group’s property, plant and equipment (including assets leased to customers under operating 

leases) took place during the year ended 31 December 2018: 

 

 

 

 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Transport 

vehicles 

  Office 

 equipment 

Total  
property and 

equipment  

excluding 

prepayments 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Historical cost 
    

As at 31 December 2017 2.1 3.7 16.4 22.2 

Additions  0.8 - 1.8 2.6 

Disposals  -0.4 -0.2 -4.3 -4.9 

As at 31 December 2018 2.5 3.5 13.9 19.9 

     
Accumulated depreciation     

As at 31 December 2017 0.8 0.7 12.2 13.7 

Charge for the period 0.5 0.4 1.4 2.3 

Reversal due to disposals -0.4 -0.1 -4.3 -4.8 

As at 31 December 2018 0.9 1.0 9.3 11.2 
     

Net book value     

As at 31 December 2017 1.3 3.0 4.2 8.5 

As at 31 December 2018 1.6 2.5 4.6 8.7 

 

 
The following changes in the Group’s property, plant and equipment (including assets leased to customers under operating 

leases) took place during the year ended 31 December 2017: 

 

 

 

 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Transport 

vehicles 

  Office 

 equipment 

Total  
property and 

equipment  

excluding 

prepayments 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Historical cost 
    

As at 31 December 2016 2.0 3.7 20.0 25.7 

Additions  0.7 0.6 1.3 2.7 

Disposals  - 0.6 - 0.6 - 4.9 - 6.0 

As at 31 December 2017 2.1 3.7 16.4 22.2 

     
Accumulated depreciation     

As at 31 December 2016 1.0 0.7 15.1 16.8 

Charge for the period 0.4 0.4 1.6 2.4 

Reversal due to disposals - 0.6 - 0.4 - 4.5 - 5.5 

As at 31 December 2017 0.8 0.7 12.2 13.7 
     

Net book value     

As at 31 December 2016 1.0 3.0 4.9 8.8 

As at 31 December 2017 1.3 3.0 4.2 8.5 
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18.  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Leased assets included above where the Group is a lessor comprise assets leased by a Group company to third parties 

under operating leases: 

 2018  2017 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Historical cost    

1 January 3.7  3.7 

Additions  -  0.6 
Disposals  -0.2  - 0.6 

31 December  3.5  3.7 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

1 January 0.7  0.7 
Charge for the period 0.4  0.4 

On disposals -0.1  - 0.4 

31 December 1.0  0.7 

    
Net book value    

31 December 2.5  3.0 

 
Most part of assets leased to customers under operating leases are transport vehicles. 

 

The future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Not later than 1 year 0.3  0.4 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 1.1  1.7 

Total minimum lease payments from operating leases 1.4  2.1 

 

19. Provisions   

 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Long term employee benefits1) 2.4  2.3 

Provisions visions for commitments and guarantees given 0.6  - 

Total provisions 3.0  2.3 

1) Long term employee benefits position consists of provisions for All Employee Programme deferred amounts. Within All 
Employee Programme half of employees bonus is deferred for  tree-year period and will be based on the total return of A 

class share price of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)   
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20. Other financial and non-financial assets and other financial and non-financial liabilities  

 
 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Receivables 21.6  2.0 
Accrued income 1.6  3.0 

Unfinished card payments 6.5  5.8 

Total other financial assets 29.7  10.8 

    

Repossessed collateral 0.5  2.5 
Deferred expenses 3.3  3.3 

Other non-financial assets 2.7  4.8 

Total other non-financial assets 6.5  10.6 

     

Total other assets 36.2   21.4 

    

Client financial payables 43.5  38.2 

Other financial liabilities -  0.5 

Total other  financial liabilities 43.5   38.7 
    

Deferred income 0.1  0.1 

Accrued future expenses 5.9  6.8 

Other non-financial liabilities 3.0  1.9 

Total other non-financial liabilities 9.0   8.8 
     

Total other liabilities 52.5   47.5 

 

Financial assets are not overdue, their ECL is not material. Financial assets are not secured by collateral. 

 

The table below shows credit risk exposures relating to other assets: 

 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Credit risk exposure of other financial assets 29.7  10.8 

 

21. Deposits from central banks and credit institutions  
 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Due to credit institutions registered in OECD area 542.7  833.6 
Due to credit institutions registered in Latvia 0.9  2.3 

Due to credit institutions registered in other countries 3.1  0.9 

Total deposits from central banks and credit institutions 546.7  836.8 

 
The following table discloses balances due to banks by maturity profile: 

 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

On demand 12.5  5.0 

Term deposits  534.2  831.8 

Total balances due to banks 546.7  836.8 

 

Balances due to related entities of SEB Group are disclosed in Note 31. 99.7% (99%) of balances due to banks are related 

to SEB AB. 
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22. Deposits and borrowings from the public  

 
 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Maturity profile:    

Demand deposits 2,598.3  2,325.9 

Term deposits  96.2  48.3 

Total deposits and borrowings from the public 2,694.5  2,374.2 

 
 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Sector profile:    

General governments  199.7      160.7    

Other financial corporations  94.2      72.5    

Non-financial corporations  806.4      716.3    

Households  1,594.2      1,424.7    

Total deposits and borrowings from the public 2,694.5  2,374.2 

Balances at 31 December 2017 is restated using improved classification by economic sector 

 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Geographical profile:    

Residents  2,607.1  2,260.0 

Non-residents 87.4  114.2 

Total deposits and borrowings from the public 2,694.5  2,374.2 

 

23. Paid-in share capital  

 
The Bank had the following shareholders: 

 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 Paid-in 

share capital 

% of total 

paid-in 
capital 

 Paid-in share 

capital  

% of total 

paid-in 
capital 

 EUR mil.   EUR mil.  

      

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  145.3 100.00  145.3 100.00 

Total  145.3 100.00  145.3 100.00 

 

As at 31 December 2018 the issued and paid-in share capital is divided into 103,774 thousand (103,774 thousand) 

registered shares with equal voting rights. All shares of the Bank have a par value of EUR 1.40 (EUR 1.40) each. 
 

Dividends paid out during 2018 amounted to EUR 70.9 million thousand (EUR 72.3 million). 
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24. Off-balance sheet liabilities  
 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

Contingent liabilities    

Outstanding financial guarantees 154.5  122.9 

Irrevocable letters of credit 4.9  4.6 

Total contingent liabilities 159.4  127.5 
    

Financial commitments    
Credit commitments  640.0  537.5 

Total financial commitments 640.0  537.5 
 

There were legal proceedings in which the Bank and its subsidiaries (members of the Group) were involved at 31 

December 2018. No provision for liabilities has been made as the management and professional advisors believe that it 

is unlikely that any material loss will arise. 
 

The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 3 years subsequent to the reported tax year and 
may impose additional tax assessments and penalties, if any. The Group's management believes that there are no material 

tax liabilities in the future. 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of these off-balance sheet liabilities. 
 

Financial and Capital Market Commission has started a review in the Bank. The final inspection report has not yet been 

prepared by the time of signing The Groups Financial Statement for 2018, therefore it is not possible to determine the 

extent of potential non-compliance or penalties. The management of the Group believes that the Bank will not be 

penalized. 
 

25. Assets under management  
 

The Group, through the operations of Private Banking client service centre and the bank’s asset management subsidiary, 

SEB Investment Management, manages short- and long-term investment assets on behalf of clients. The asset 
management operations include management of fund portfolios, Latvian 2nd and 3rd pillar pension savings and institutional 

customers’  investment portfolios. 
 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Deposits in banks 53.5  56.6 

Fixed income securities 1,011.3  940.9 
Investment funds 322.5  319.2 

Real estate 0.1  0.1 

Equities 3.2  - 

Total assets under management 1,390.6  1,316.8 

 

26. Cash and cash equivalents  
 

The table below provides a breakdown of cash and cash equivalents: 
 

 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 
    

Cash and balances with central bank (see Note 13) 350.1  570.1 

Demand deposits with credit institutions 57.5  119.0 

Total cash and cash equivalents 407.6  689.1 
 

Balances with central bank include a mandatory reserve maintained in accordance with Bank of Latvia regulations. The 

regulations specify the average balance to be maintained on the Bank’s correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia 
during each month, whilst allowing funds in the account to be used in an unrestricted manner on individual days. For 

December 2018 the mandatory reserve requirement was EUR 28.0 million (EUR 29.9 million). 
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27. Currency analysis  

 
The following table provides the analysis of the Group’s assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity as well as commitments 

and contingent liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2018 by currency profile: 

 

 EUR USD 
Other 

currencies Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets     

Cash and balances with central bank  348.7     1.2     0.2     350.1    

Receivables from credit institutions  21.4     2.3     34.8     58.5    
Loans to the public  2,933.7     14.8     9.4     2,957.9    
Debt securities  244.2     10.7     -       254.9    

Derivatives   33.5     0.5     -       34.0    
Equity instruments  -       5.9     -       5.9    
Intangible assets  9.2     -       -       9.2    

Property, plant and equipment  8.8     -       -       8.8    
Current income tax assets  3.1     -       -       3.1    
Other financial assets  17.8     0.2     11.7     29.7    

Other non-financial assets  6.5     -       -       6.5    

Total assets  3,626.9     35.6     56.1     3,718.6    

     
Liabilities      

Deposits from central bank and credit institutions  539.2     0.2     7.3     546.7    
Deposits and borrowings from the public  2,572.9     90.1     31.5     2,694.5    
Derivatives  33.7     0.4     -       34.1    

Deferred income tax liability  0.7     -       -       0.7    
Provisions  3.0     -       -       3.0    
Other financial liabilities  27.5     6.3     9.7     43.5    

Other non-financial liabilities  9.0     -       -       9.0    

Total liabilities  3,186.0     97.0     48.5     3,331.5    

     
Equity 387.1 - - 387.1 
     

Total liabilities and equity 3,573.1 97.0 48.5 3,7 

Net long / (short) position on balance sheet                53.8    -           61.4                   7.6                         -      
     
Off-balance sheet claims arising from foreign exchange     

Spot foreign exchange receivable  0.7     1.1     0.4     2.2    
Forward foreign exchange receivable  7.7     60.0     7.1     74.8    

Total foreign exchange receivable  8.4     61.1     7.5     77.0    
     
Off-balance sheet liabilities arising from foreign exchange     

Spot foreign exchange payable  1.5     -       0.7     2.2    
Forward foreign exchange payable  60.7     -       14.2     74.9    

Total foreign exchange payable  62.2     -       14.9     77.1    

Net long / (short) position on foreign exchange -53.8     61.1    -7.4    -0.1    

Net long/ (short) position   0.0    -0.3     0.2    -0.1    

     

As at 31 December 2017     

Total assets 3,538.6 109.3 40.2 3,688.1 

Total liabilities  3,142.2 110.2 31.8 3,284.2 

Equity 402.8 1.1 - 403.9 

Net long / (short) position on balance sheet - 6.4 - 2.0 8.4 - 

Net long / (short) position on foreign exchange 9.6 - 1.2 - 8.3 0.1 

Net long / (short) position  3.2 - 3.2 0.1 0.1 
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28. Re-pricing maturity of assets and liabilities  

 
The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities to maturity groupings as at 31 December 2018 based on the 

time remaining from the balance sheet date to the earlier of maturity and contractual re-pricing dates (based on 

contractual discounted cash flows). 

 
 Within 

1 month 

1-3   

months 

3-6  

months 

6-12 

months 

1-5    

years 

Over 

5 years 

Non-interest 

bearing Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets         
Cash and balances with central 

bank 315.8 - - - - - 34.3 350.1 
Receivables from credit 
institutions 57.6 0.8 - - - - 0.1 58.5 

Loans to the public 841.4 939.3 584.5 372.6 214.8 1.4 3.9 2,957.9 
Debt securities - 107.2 25.6 15.7 105.5 - 0.9 254.9 
Derivatives  0.8 1.2 3.4 - 28.6 - - 34.0 

Equity instruments - - - - - - 5.9 5.9 
Intangible assets - - - - - - 9.2 9.2 
Property, plant and equipment - - - - - - 8.8 8.8 

Current income tax assets - - - - - - 3.1 3.1 
Other financial assets - - - - - - 29.7 29.7 
Other non-financial assets - - - - - - 6.5 6.5 

Total assets 1,215.6 1,048.5 613.5 388.3 348.9 1.4 102.4 3,718.6 

         
Liabilities          

Deposits from central bank and 
credit institutions 35.5 36.0 111.4 72.9 290.5 - 0.4 546.7 
Deposits and borrowings from 

the public 2,219.9 386.3 81.9 5.1 0.1 - 1.2 2,694.5 
Derivatives 0.9 1.4 3.5 - 28.3 - - 34.1 
Deferred income tax liability - - - - - - 0.7 0.7 

Provisions 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2 - - 2.3 3.0 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - 43.5 43.5 
Other non-financial liabilities - - - - - - 9.0 9.0 

Total liabilities 2,256.6 423.8 196.9 78.2 318.9 - 57.1 3,331.5 
         
Equity - - - - - - 387.1 387.1 

         

Total liabilities and equity 2,256.6 423.8 196.9 78.2 318.9 - 444.2 3,718.6 

         

On balance sheet interest 
sensitivity analysis -1,041.0 624.7 416.6 310.1 30.0 1.4 -341.8 - 

         
As at 31 December 2017         

Total assets 1,548.8 853.4 442.2 362.8 406.5 0.9 73.4 3,688.1 

Total liabilities  2,110.5 470.7 371.3 60.3 219.6 - 51.7 3,284.2 

Equity - - - - - - 403.9 403.9 

         

On balance sheet interest 
sensitivity analysis - 561.6 382.6 70.9 302.5 186.8 0.9 - 382.2 - 
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29. Liquidity risk and analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile  

 
The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities to maturity groupings as at 31 December 2018 based on the 

time remaining from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity dates (based on contractual discounted cash 

flows). 

 
 

Overdue 

Within 

1 month 

1 – 3 

months 

3 - 6 

months 

6 -12 

months 

1-5 

years 

Over 5 years  

and undated Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets         

Cash and balances with central bank - 350.1 - - - - - 350.1 

Receivables from credit institutions - 57.7 0.8 - - - - 58.5 

Loans to the public 20.2 67.5 111.4 193.4 352.3 1,436.2 776.9 2,957.9 

Debt securities - 0.5 107.4 25.8 15.8 105.4 - 254.9 

Derivatives  - 0.1 0.2 0.8 - 30.3 2.6 34.0 

Equity instruments - - - - - - 5.9 5.9 

Intangible assets - - - - - - 9.2 9.2 

Property, plant and equipment - - - - - - 8.8 8.8 
Current income tax assets - - - - - - 3.1 3.1 

Other financial assets - 29.7 - - - - - 29.7 

Other non-financial assets - - - - - - 6.5 6.5 

Total assets 20.2 505.6 219.8 220.0 368.1 1,571.9 813.0 3,718.6 

         

Liabilities          

Deposits from central bank and credit 

institutions 
- 35.9 36.0 111.4 72.9 290.5 - 546.7 

Deposits and borrowings from the 
public 

- 2,221.1 386.3 81.9 5.1 0.1 - 2,694.5 

Derivatives - 0.1 0.2 0.9 - 30.3 2.6 34.1 

Deferred income tax liability - - - - - - 0.7 0.7 

Provisions - 0.2 - 0.1 0.2 0.1 2.4 3.0 

Other financial liabilities - 43.5 - - - - - 43.5 

Other non-financial liabilities - - - - - - 9.0 9.0 

Total liabilities - 2,300.8 422.5 194.3 78.2 321.0 14.7 3,331.5 

         

Equity - - - - - - 387.1 387.1 

         

Total liabilities and equity - 2,300.8 422.5 194.3 78.2 321.0 401.8 3,718.6 

         

Off-balance sheet liabilities - 644.6 9.8 17.5 44.4 57.0 26.1 799.4 

         

Net liquidity 20.2 -2,439.8 -212.5 8.2 245.5 1,193.9 385.1 -799.4 

         

As at 31 December 2017         

Total assets 27.5 805.5 110.2 221.2 369.8 1,476.4 677.5 3,688.1 

Total liabilities  - 2,150.3 469.4 269.4 160.8 221.9 12.4 3,284.2 

Equity - - - - - - 403.9 403.9 

Off-balance sheet liabilities - 541.1 9.3 22.7 43.3 47.6 1.1 665.1 

         

Net liquidity 27.5 - 1,885.9 - 368.5 - 70.9 165.7 1,206.9 260.1 - 665.1 

 

In line with The Liquidity Compliance Rules approved by the Financial and Capital Market Commission, Equity instruments 
valued at Fair Value through profit or loss (previously classified as investment securities available-for-sale) that can be 

sold at short notice without major losses, and the securities that can be used as collateral for loans in the table are shown 

in the term group according to the anticipated term of sale of the respective security or the anticipated term of loan 

disbursement.     
 

Overdue loans are determined based on repayment schedule information, e.g. in case one payment is overdue, only this 

payment is reflected as overdue, while remaining future cash flows are allocated based on their contractual terms. 

 
Short-term liquidity is assessed as meeting liquidity management requirements as both the Group’s liquidity coverage 

ratios (LCR) exceed 100% as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 (the minimum requirement of the Financial 

and Capital Markets Commission is 100%). Moreover,  SEB banka is a member of SEB AB  Group implying availability of 

financial resources to be borrowed from the parent company when needed.   
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29.  Liquidity risk and analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile (continued) 

 
All amounts are presented on the basis of contractual undiscounted cash flows except for due to customers which are 

presented based on carrying amounts. The table below allocates the Group’s financial liabilities and liquid assets cash 

flows as at 31 December 2018.  

 

 Up to 1 

month 

1 - 3 

months 

3 - 6 

months 

6 - 12 

months 

1 - 5 

years 

Over 5 

years Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Deposits from central banks 

and credit institutions 
35.9 36.0 111.5 72.9 293.5 - 549.8 

Deposits and borrowings 
from the public 

2,221.1 386.3 81.9 5.1 0.1 - 2,694.5 

Other financial liabilities 43.5 - - - - - 43.5 

Total financial liabilities 2,300.5 422.3 193.4 78.0 293.6 - 3,287.8 

Off-balance sheet liabilities 644.6 9.8 17.5 44.4 57.0 26.1 799.4 

Total 2,945.1 432.1 210.9 122.4 350.6 26.1 4,087.2 

               

Liquid assets 453.6 120.2 60.3 28.3 - - 662.4 

 
The table below allocates the Group’s financial liabilities and liquid assets cash flows as at 31 December 2017.  

 

 Up to 1 

month 

1 - 3 

months 

3 - 6 

months 

6 - 12 

months 

1 - 5 

years 

Over 5 

years Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Deposits from central banks 

and credit institutions 145.2 76.0 266.6 148.1 202.1 - 838.0 

Deposits and borrowings 

from the public 1,966.3 393.3 2.1 12.4 0.1 - 2,374.2 

Other financial liabilities 38.7 - - - - - 38.7 

Total financial liabilities 2,150.2 469.3 268.6 160.5 202.2 - 3,250.8 

Off-balance sheet liabilities 541.1 9.4 22.6 43.3 47.6 1.1 665.1 

Total 2,691.3 478.7 291.3 203.8 249.8 1.1 3,916.0 

        

Liquid assets 793.4 128.3 41.8 18.6 - - 982.1 
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29.  Liquidity risk and analysis of assets and liabilities by maturity profile (continued) 

 
The table below allocates the Group’s derivative cash flows as at 31 December 2018: 

  

 Up to 1 

month 

1 - 3 

months 

3 - 6 

months 

6 - 12 

months 

1 - 5 

years 

Over 5 

years Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

        

Derivatives settled on a 

gross basis        

Foreign exchange 

derivatives        

outflow 63.7 11.2 - - 307.8 - 382.7 

inflow 63.7 11.1 - - 307.8 - 382.6 

 

The table below allocates the Group’s derivative cash flows as at 31 December 2017: 

  

 Up to 1 
month 

1 - 3 
months 

3 - 6 
months 

6 - 12 
months 

1 - 5 
years 

Over 5 
years Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

        

Derivatives settled on a 

gross basis        

Foreign exchange 
derivatives        

outflow 20.3 11.8 0.7 - 300.0 - 332.9 

inflow 20.3 11.8 0.7 - 300.0 - 332.9 
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30. Capital adequacy  

 
The following table shows the Group’s calculation of the capital adequacy ratio according to the Basel III 

requirements: 

 

No. Position name 
31/12/2018 

EUR mil. 
31/12/2017 

EUR mil. 

 

1. 

 

Own funds (1.1.+1.2.) 316.1 347.1 

1.1. Tier 1 capital (1.1.1+1.1.2.)   316.1 347.1 

1.1.1 Common equity Tier 1 capital 316.1 347.1 

1.1.2 Additional Tier 1 capital    - - 

1.2 Tier 2 capital - - 

 
2. 

 

 
Total risk exposure amount 

(2.1.+2.2.+2.3.+2.4.+2.5.+2.6.+2.7.) 1,802.2 1,712.0 

2.1. 

 

Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty credit 

and dilution risks and free deliveries 1,657.3 1,567.7 

2.2. Total risk exposure amount for settlement / delivery - - 

2.3. 
 

Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange and 
commodities risks 1.3 6.2 

2.4. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (OpR) 143.6 137.9 

2.5. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment 0.0 0.2 

2.6. 
 

Total risk exposure amount related to large exposures in the 
trading book - - 

2.7. Other risk exposure amounts   - - 
 

3. 

 

Capital adequacy ratios   

3.1. Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio (1.1.1/2.*100) 17.54% 20.27% 

3.2. 

 

Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Common equity Tier 1 capital (1.1.1.-

2.*4.5%) 235.0 270.0 

3.3. Tier 1 Capital ratio (1.1./2.*100) 17.54% 20.27% 

3.4. Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Tier 1 capital (1.1.-2.*6%) 208.0 244.3 

3.5. Total capital ratio (1./2.*100)    17.54% 20.27% 

3.5. Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of total capital (1.-2.*8%) 171.9 210.1 

 
4. 

 
Combined buffer requirements (4.1.+4.2.+4.3.+4.4.+4.5.)   

4.1. Capital conservation buffer (%)    2.50% 2.50% 

4.2. Institution specific countercyclical buffer (%)   0.00% 0.00% 

4.3. Institution specific countercyclical buffer (%)   - - 

4.4. Systemically important institution buffer (%)   - - 

4.5. Other systemically important institution buffer (%)   2.00% 1.00% 
 

5. Capital adequacy ratios, including adjustments   

5.1. 

 

Impairment or asset value adjustments for capital adequacy ratio 

purposes - - 
5.2. 

 Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments 17.54% 20.27% 

5.3 Tier 1 Capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments 17.54% 20.27% 

5.4. Total capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments   17.54% 20.27% 
 

 

The Group was in compliance with minimum requirements (8%) on capital adequacy both in 2018 and 2017. 
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31. Related party transactions  

 
Related parties are defined as shareholders who have significant influence over the Bank and key management personnel 

(comprising members of the Council and Board of Directors, internal audit manager, risk director, head of compliance 

control, together with their close relatives) as well as companies in which they have a controlling interest or significant 

influence. Starting with 31 December 2015 Related parties are disclosed based on the Financial and Capital Market 
Commission Regulations No. 115 – Related parties exposure limit execution regulations.  

 

The following balances were held with related parties (private individuals):  

 
 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

 Terms Group Terms Group 

 % EUR mil. % EUR mil. 

       

Total credit exposure  0.00 - 2.59 1.3 0.00 – 2.57 1.2 

 

Balances due from related companies are analysed as follows: 

 

 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

 Terms Group Terms Group 
 % EUR mil. % EUR mil. 

       

Correspondent accounts with the Bank’s Parent  

(0.75) - 

31.64 42.0 (0.75) - 12.58 102.4 
Correspondent accounts with other credit 

institutions of the SEB Group 

(0.40) - 

4.52 12.9 (0.40) - 1.34 14.7 

Total correspondent accounts  54.9  117.1 

       

Loans to other companies of the SEB Group 0.00 4.0 0.00 4.2 

Total loans   4.0  4.2 

       

Derivative financial instruments with the Bank’s 

Parent   29.1  19.0 

Total derivative financial instruments  29.1  19.0 

       
Accrued income and deferred expenses  0.5  0.1 

        

Total balances due from related companies  88.5  140.4 

ECL model is applied to balances due from related companies. Due to high quality of assets ECL amount is immaterial. 
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31.  Related party transactions (continued) 

 
Balances due to related companies are analysed as follows: 

 

 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

 Terms Group Terms Group 

 % EUR mil. % EUR mil. 
     

Parent’s correspondent accounts with Bank (0.40) 7.3 (0.40) 0.1 

Correspondent accounts of other credit 

institutions of the SEB Group (0.40) - 4.52 3.5 (0.40) – 1.34 1.2 
Correspondent accounts of other companies of 

the SEB Group 0.00 1.6 0.00 7.2 

Total correspondent accounts  12.4  8.5 

     

The Parent’s term deposits  
(0.21) - 
(0.92) 389.4 (0.21) - (0.17) 407.0 

Deposits from other institutions of the SEB 

Group 0.00 0.4 0.00 0.4 

Long-term borrowings from the Parent  
(0.15) - 
(0.14) 145.0 0.00 – 1.45 425.0 

Derivative financial instruments with the Bank’s 

Parent  5.3  4.4 

     
Accrued expenses and deferred income  0.1  0.1 

     

Total balances due to related credit companies  552.6  845.4 

   

 
The Group’s income/expenses transactions with its related companies are analysed as follows: 

 

 2018  2017 

 Parent Other 

entities 

 Parent Other 

entities 

 EUR mil. EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. 

      

Interest income from money market transactions 0.5 -  0.2 - 

Commission income 1.2 0.7  1.2 0.5 

Received payments for services 0.2 -1.2  0.2 4.3 

Interest expense on credit resources -0.9 -  - 0.6 - 

Interest expense on deposits -1.3 -0.1  - 2.3 - 

Commission expense -0.3 -0.4  - 0.5 - 0.3 

Fee for services -1.0 -1.9  - 1.0 - 3.4 

Insurance premiums -0.1 -  - 0.1 - 

Subtotal -1.7 -2.9  - 2.9 1.1 

 

See also Note 9 regarding remuneration to key management personnel. 
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32. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities  

 
In respect of financial assets and liabilities held in the Group’s balance sheet at carrying values other than fair value, in the 

opinion of Management the fair value of several those financial assets and liabilities differs or does not differ from their 

carrying values as at 31 December 2018, as follows:  

 31/12/2018 

 Book value  Fair value 

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets 
      

Receivables from credit institutions 58.5 - - - 58.4 58.4 

Loans to the public 2,957.9  - - 2,879.9 2,879.9 
Other financial assets 29.7  - - 29.7 29.7 

Total assets 3,046.1  - - 3,046.0 3,046.0 
       

Liabilities       

Deposits from central banks and 
credit institutions 

546.7 - - - 548.1 548.1 

Deposits and borrowings from the 

public 

2,694.5 - - - 2,694.5 2,694.5 

Other financial liabilities 43.5 - - - 43.5 43.5 

Total liabilities 3,284.7  - - 3,286.1 3,286.1 

 

In respect of financial assets and liabilities held in the Group’s balance sheet at carrying values other than fair value, in the 
opinion of Management the fair value of several those financial assets and liabilities differs or does not differ from their 

carrying values as at 31 December 2017, as follows:  

 31/12/2017 

 Book value  Fair value 

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 EUR mil.  EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets 
      

Receivables from credit institutions 126.9  - - 126.9 126.9 
Loans to the public 2,637.3  - - 2,584.5 2,584.5 
Other financial assets 10.8  - - 10.8 10.8 

Total assets 2,775.0  - - 2,722.2 2,722.2 
       

Liabilities       
Deposits from central banks and 
credit institutions 

836.8  - - 838.8 838.8 

Deposits and borrowings from the 
public 

2,374.2  - - 2,374.3 2,374.3 

Other financial liabilities 38.7  - - 38.7 38.7 

Total liabilities 3,249.7  - - 3,251.8 3,251.8 
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32.  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
In assessing the differences of fair value to carrying value management has performed discounted cash flow analysis 

where financial assets and liabilities are at fixed rates of interest for fixed period. All items where interest rates are pegged 

to floating market interest rates have not been recalculated; the carrying value is considered equal to fair value. 

 
Fair value hierarchy 

IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are 

observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable 

inputs reflect the Group’s market assumptions. 

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant and observable 

market prices in its valuations where possible. 

The objective of the fair value measurement, even in inactive markets, is to arrive at the price at which an orderly 

transaction would take place between  market participants to sell the asset or transfer the liability at the measurement 
date under current market conditions. 

In order to arrive at the fair value of a financial instrument different methods are used: quoted prices, valuation techniques 

incorporating observable data and valuation techniques based on internal models. These valuation methods are divided 

according with the fair value hierarchy in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3. 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value of a financial instrument is categorized shall be determined 

on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value in its entirety.  

The classification of financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy is a two-step process: 

1. Classifying each input used to determine the fair value into one of the three levels;  
2. Classifying the entire financial instrument based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value in its 

entirety. 

Group defines significant as being 10 percent of the total fair value of the financial instrument. If an unobservable input 

represents 10 per cent or more of a financial instrument’s total fair value, the entire financial instrument is classified in 
Level 3. 

Quoted market prices - Level 1 

Valuations in  Level  1 are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active 

markets where the quoted prices are readily available and the prices represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis. Bid prices are used. 

Level 1 financial instruments contain:  

- Quoted equity securities traded in an exchange;  

- Quoted debt securities with executable quotations on a daily basis; 
- Exchanged traded derivatives like futures; 

- Financial instruments traded in an active market for which one or more market participants provide a binding 

price quotation on the balance sheet date;  

- Fund shares with daily NAV prices. 
- etc. 

Valuation techniques using observable inputs - Level 2 

Valuation techniques in Level 2 are models where all significant inputs are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly. Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability 
either directly (that is, as price) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). This level includes the majority of the OTC 

derivative contracts and debt instruments. 
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32.  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

Level 2 financial instruments contain: 
- Interest rate swap based on the interbank swap rate. A Level 2 input would include the interbank  swap rate if 

that rate is observable at commonly quoted intervals for the full term of the swap; 

- Interest rate swap based on a foreign-denominated yield curve. A Level 2 input would include the swap rate 

based on a foreign-denominated yield curve that is observable at commonly quoted intervals for substantially 
the full term of the swap;  

- An financial instrument for which no active market exists but for which Group recently entered into an off-setting 

transaction with a third party; 

- An financial instrument for which a model is applied to calculate fair value. For one input variable, interpolates 
between two observable variables to calculate the variable to include in the model for this particular instrument; 

- Fund shares with an official price at least once a month. 

- etc. 

Valuation technique using significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 

A valuation technique that incorporates significant inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs) is classified in Level 3. 

Unobservable inputs are those not readily available in an active market due to market illiquidity or complexity of the 

product. Level 3 inputs are generally determined based on observable inputs of a similar nature, historic observations on 
the level of the input or analytical techniques. 

This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable components. There were no 

reclassifications between classes of financial instruments during the year. 

 
The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2018:   

 

 31/12/2018 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Classification in accordance with IFRS 9 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Derivatives (assets)     

Derivatives  - 34.0 - 34.0 

 

Equity instruments     
Equity shares  - - 5.9 5.9 

 

Debt securities     

Debt securities 254.9 - - 254.9 
     

Derivatives (liabilities)     

Derivatives  - 34.1 - 34.1 

 
The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2017:   

 

 31/12/2017 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Classification in accordance with IAS 39 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Derivative financial instruments (assets)     

Derivatives  - 23.2 - 23.2 

 
Available for sale financial assets     

Debt securities - 0.3 - 0.3 

Equity shares  - - 3.5 3.5 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

Debt securities 43.5 243.6 - 287.1 

     

Derivative financial instruments (liabilities)     
Derivatives  - 23.1 - 23.1 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

32.  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

The table below represents the changes of the Group’s Level 3 instruments for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 

31 December 2018 (millions of EUR): 
 

 Equity instruments 

  

Balance as of 31 December 2016 2.7 

Purchases / (sales) - 

Change of revaluation reserve 0.8 

Balance as of 31 December 2017 3.5 

Purchases / (sales) - 

Gain (loss) in Income Statement 2.4 

Balance as of 31 December 2018 5,9 

 

All equity instruments owned by group are Visa Inc preferred shares. The Group, as an owner of the Visa Inc preferred 
share, has a stake in the company in proportion to the stocks held under the conversion estimate provided by Visa Inc. 

Valuation inputs to approximate the value of the preference shares has been used. The valuation methodology as well as 

the current conversion factors have been approved by a Valuation Committee. 

 
Following the exercise of the stock conversion, stock is valued at the traded price for the Visa Inc. shares (NYSE:V). 

Given that preference shares are directly convertible to A Class shares, the use of market observable inputs has been 

maximized. The SEB valuation of the preferred shares has therefore been modelled on the traded closing price at month 

end for the Visa Inc. share on NYSE. The embedded conversion feature, which reduces the number of Visa Inc. equity 
instruments a Principal Member receives on conversion of its preferred share, is dependent upon the uncertain outcome 

of litigation. 

 

In order to account for the fact that the SEB preferred shares are non-transferrable and subject to ownership 
restrictions, a haircut has been applied to the listed A class share price. The haircut reflects that holders of preference 

shares do not have access to the primary market where Visa A class shares are traded. Preference shares may only be 

sold or transferred to other members in the transaction or other holders of B-class shares. The total haircut 30% (50%) 

applied to the preference shares estimated value, reflects haircut on the valuation and an additional cut on the number 
of shares expected on conversion. 

 

33. Fair values of other assets 

 
 31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

 EUR mil.  EUR mil. 

    

Assets held for sale -  2.4 

 
Assets held for sale are comprised of repossessed collaterals shown at their fair value, which is determined using market 

values approach and is based on the definition of active markets as set out in the International valuation standards. Market 

values approach was used, as sufficiently active and liquid market for assets held for sale was identified and market prices 

used in valuation considered to be readily available. Valuation models include both observable market data, as well as 
directly unobservable market data, representing Level 3 inputs.  
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34. Movement in revaluation reserve on investment securities available for sale 

 
  EUR mil. 

   

Balance as at 31 December 2016  - 0.2 

Gains reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of Visa Europe Ltd.   - 

Net result from changes in fair value of VISA Inc. (2016: Visa Europe Ltd.) shares 

included in other comprehensive income  1.0 
Net result from changes in fair value of other  available-for-sale securities included in 

other comprehensive income  - 0.2 

Balance as at 31 December 2017  0.6 

Effect of applying IFRS 9  - 0.6 

Restated balance as at 1 January 2018  - 

 

No movement in revaluation reserve as investment securities available for sale (AFS) has been reclassified as Fair Value 

Through Profit or Loss (FVMPL) starting from 1 January 2018 in accordance with IFRS 9.  

 
35. Future non-cancellable lease payments for operational leases  

 

The following table discloses future non-cancellable lease payments for premises operational leases (other lease 

payments also exist while those are comparatively small). 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

36. Encumbered assets  
 

Encumbered assets of the Group in the amount of EUR 0.1 thousand (EUR 8,473 thousand) are comprised of security 

deposits with other economic and basic activities partners 

 
37. Return on equity and return on assets  

 

 2018  2017 

    

Return on average equity (ROAE) 12.52%  9.85% 

Return on average assets (ROAA) 1.39%  1.13% 

 

 

Both return ratios are calculated based on FCMC regulations, taking annual average from monthly balances. ROAE is 
calculated as net profit for the year divided by annual average total equity. ROAA is calculated as net profit for the year 

divided by annual average total assets. 

  

 2018 
 EUR mil. 

  

Year 2019 4.5 

Year 2020 4.1 
Year 2021  3.9 

Year 2022 3.2 

Year 2023 and later 0.4 

Total 16.1 
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38. Financial instruments by measurement categories  

 
The following table provides a reconciliation of classes of the Group’s financial assets with these measurement categories 

as of 31 December 2018. 

  

 FVHFT FVMPL AmC Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets     

Cash and balances with central 

bank - - 350.1 350.1 
Receivables from credit 

institutions - - 58.5 58.5 

Loans to the public - - 2,957.9  2,957.9 

Debt securities - 254.9 - 254.9 
Derivatives  34.0 - - 34.0 

Equity instruments - 5.9 - 5.9 

Other financial assets - - 29.7 29.7 

Total financial assets 34.0 260.8 3,396.2 3,691.0 

Non-financial assets - - - 27.6 

Total assets 294.8 3,396.2 27.6 3,718.6 

 

The following table provides a reconciliation of classes of the Group’s financial assets with these measurement categories 

as of 31 December 2017. 
  

 LaR AFS HFT FVO Total 

 EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. EUR mil. 

Assets      

Cash and balances with central 

bank 570.1 - - - 570.1 

Receivables from credit 
institutions 126.9 - - - 126.9 

Loans to the public 2,637.3 - - - 2,637.3 

Debt securities - - - 287.1 287.1 

Derivatives - - 23.2 - 23.2 
Equity instruments  - 3.8 - - 3.8 

Other financial assets 10.8 - - - 10.8 

Total financial assets 3,345.1 3.8 23.2 287.1 3,659.2 

Non-financial assets - - - - 28.9 

Total assets - - - - 3,688.1 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, all of the Group’s and Bank’s financial liabilities, except for 

derivatives and short positions in securities, were carried at amortised cost. Derivatives and short positions in 

securities belong to the fair value through profit or loss measurement category. 
 

 

39. Events after the balance sheet date  

 
There are no subsequent events since the last date of the reporting year which would have a significant effect on the 

financial position of the Group or the Bank as at 31 December 2018. 
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40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity 

 
40.1. Income Statement of the Bank  

(millions of EUR) 

 
  2018   20171)  

       

       

Interest income  61.4   60.6  

Interest expense  -7.9   - 8.9  

Net interest income  53.5   51.7  

       

Fee and commission income  49.2   49.6  

Fee and commission expense  -17.4   - 17.7  

Net fee and commission income  31.8   31.9  

       

Net financial income  7.3   3.5  

       

Dividends   0.1   4.5  

Other operating income  3.2   3.1  

Net other income  3.3   7.6  

       

Personnel expenses  -24.3   - 23.7  

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of  

tangible and intangible assets 

 

-3.6   - 5.0  

Other expenses  -21.4   - 20.8  

Total operating expenses  -49.3   - 49.5  

       

Credit loss  - 0.8   - 1.1  

       

Profit before income tax  45.8   44.1  
       

Income tax expenses  -   - 5.9  

        

Net profit for the year  45.8   38.2  

       
1) Financial Statement’s Income Statement line items for 2017 are changed, please see Note 1.2 
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40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

 
40.2. Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Bank 

(millions of EUR) 
 

 2018   2017  

      

Net profit for the year 45.8   38.2  

      

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 

or loss:        

Available-for-sale investments:      

Gains less losses arising during the year from Visa 

Europe Ltd. shares -   1.1  
Net losses arising during the year from other 

available-for-sale securities -   - 0.2  

       

Total comprehensive income for the year 45.8   39.1  
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40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

 
40.3. Statement of Financial Position of the Bank  

(millions of EUR) 

  31/12/2018   31/12/2017 1) 

Assets      

Cash and balances with central bank  350.1   570.1 

Receivables from credit institutions  58.5   126.9 

Loans to the public  2,947.6   2,626.9 
Securities designated at fair value through profit 

or loss 

 

-  

 

287.1 

Debt securities  254.6   - 

Derivatives  34.0   23.3 
Investment securities available-for-sale  -   3.5 

Equity instruments  5.9   - 

Investments in subsidiaries  5.0   5.0 

Intangible assets  9.2   9.3 
Property, plant and equipment  6.2   5.9 

Current income tax assets  2.4   - 

Other financial assets  29.1   9.4 

Other non-financial assets  3.2   3.1 

Total assets  3,705.8   3,670.5 

      

Liabilities      
Deposits from central banks and credit 

institutions 

 
546.7 

 

 
836.8 

Deposits and borrowings from the public  2,703.8   2,382.2 

Derivatives  34.1   23.1 
Current income tax liability  -   0.3 

Provisions  5.3   2.1 

Other financial liabilities  38.5   28.5 

Other non-financial liabilities  6.4   5.7 

Total liabilities  3,334.8   3,278.7 

      

Equity      

     

Share capital  145.3   145.3 

Share premium  5.1   5.1 

Revaluation result on investment securities 
available-for-sale  

 
-  

 
0.6 

Other reserves  0.6   0.6 

Retained earnings  220.0   240.2 

Total equity  371.0   391.8 

       

Total liabilities and equity  3,705.8   3,670.5 

      
1) Financial Statement’s Statement of Financial Position line items for 31/12/2017 are changed, please see Note 1.2 
  



AS „SEB banka” Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

 

 82 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

 
40.4. Statement of Changes in the Equity of the Bank  

(millions of EUR) 
 

 

Paid-in 

share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Other 

reserves 

Revaluation 

reserve on 
investment 

securities 

available-

for-sale  

Retained 

earnings TOTAL 

       

Balance at 31 December 2016 145.3 5.1 0.7 - 0.3 274.0 424.8 

Profit for the year - - - - 38.2 38.2 

Other comprehensive income - - - 0.9 - 0.9 

Total comprehensive income for the 

year - - - 0.9 38.2 39.1 

Dividends (Note 23) - - - - - 72.4 - 72.4 

Share-based compensation - - 0.3 - - 0.3 

Realisation of share-based 

compensation - - - 0.4 - 0.4 - 

Balance at 31 December 2017 145.3 5.1 0.6 0.6 240.2 391.8 

Effect of applying IFRS 9 - - - -0.6 4.6 4.0 

Restated balance at 1 January 2018 145.3 5.1 0.6 - 244.8 395.8 

Profit for the year - - - - 45.8 45.8 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year - - - - 45.8 45.8 

Dividends (Note 23) - - - - -70.9 -70.9 

Share-based compensation - - 0.3 - - 0.3 

Realisation of share-based 
compensation - - -0.3 - 0.3 - 

Balance at 31 December 2018 145.3 5.1 0.6 - 220.0 371.0 
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40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

 
40.5. Statement of Cash Flows of the Bank  

(millions of EUR) 
 

 2018  2017 

    

Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit before income tax  45.8  44.1 

Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and 

property and equipment 3.4  3.5 

Increase in allowances for loan impairment 0.8  1.1 
Interest income on loans -60.2  - 52.7 

Interest expense on customer and bank deposits 1.3  1.4 

Profit / (loss) from revaluation of foreign currency 1.9  - 6.4 

Loss / (profit) from disposal of tangible property and 
equipment  -  1.6 

Dividends received -  - 4.5 

Increase in share based compensations 0.3  0.3 

(Increase) / decrease in other assets  -19.4  9.1 
Increase in other liabilities 5.7  18.3 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating 

activities  before changes in assets and liabilities -20.4  15.8 

    

Increase / (decrease) of securities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 32.5  - 36.4 

(Increase) / Decrease in balances due from banks 7.0  - 7.1 

Increase in loans and advances to customers -309.6  - 163.3 

Increase / (decrease) in balances due to banks -290.0  155.0 
Increase in deposits due to customers 321.5  128.8 

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from 

operating activities before income taxes -259.0  92.8 

    

Interest received from loans issued 60.4  52.2 
Interest paid on customer and bank deposits -1.2  - 1.4 

Income tax paid -2.8  - 9.2 

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities -202.6  134.4 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property and equipment   -3.8  - 1.1 

Sale of property and equipment 0.1  - 

Decrease in investment securities available-for-sale  -  0.2 

Increase in investment securities -2.4  - 
Dividends received -  4.5 

Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities -6.1  3.6 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    
Dividends paid out -70.9  - 72.3 

Net cash used in financing activities -70.9  - 72.3 

    

Net cash inflow / (outflow) for the year -279.6  65.7 

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 689.1  617.0 

    

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents -1.9  6.4 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 407.6  689.1 
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40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

 
40.6. Capital adequacy of the Bank  

 

The following table shows the Bank’s calculation of the capital adequacy ratio according to the Basel III 

requirements: 
 

No. Position name 
31/12/2018 

EUR mil. 

31/12/2017 

EUR mil. 

 
1. 

 
Own funds (1.1.+1.2.) 307.6 343.7 

1.1. Tier 1 capital (1.1.1+1.1.2.)   307.6 343.7 

1.1.1 Common equity Tier 1 capital 307.6 343.7 

1.1.2 Additional Tier 1 capital    - - 

1.2 Tier 2 capital - - 

 

2. 

 

 

Total risk exposure amount 

(2.1.+2.2.+2.3.+2.4.+2.5.+2.6.+2.7.) 1,640.9 1,527.9 
2.1. 

 

Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty credit 

and dilution risks and free deliveries 1,506.5 1,405.9 

2.2. Total risk exposure amount for settlement / delivery - - 

2.3. 

 

Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange and 

commodities risks 0.3 0.4 

2.4. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (OpR) 134.2 121.4 

2.5. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment 0.0 0.2 

2.6. 

 

Total risk exposure amount related to large exposures in the 

trading book - - 

2.7. Other risk exposure amounts   - - 

 

3. 

 

Capital adequacy ratios   

3.1. Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio (1.1.1/2.*100) 18.74% 22.49% 

3.2. 
 

Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Common equity Tier 1 capital (1.1.1.-
2.*4.5%) 233.7 274.9 

3.3. Tier 1 Capital ratio (1.1./2.*100) 18.74% 22.49% 

3.4. Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of Tier 1 capital (1.1.-2.*6%) 209.1 252.0 

3.5. Total capital ratio (1./2.*100)    18.74% 22.49% 

3.5. Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) of total capital (1.-2.*8%) 176.3 221.4 

 

4. 

 

Combined buffer requirements (4.1.+4.2.+4.3.+4.4.+4.5.)   

4.1. Capital conservation buffer (%)    2.50% 2.50% 

4.2. Institution specific countercyclical buffer (%)   0.00% 0.00% 

4.3. Institution specific countercyclical buffer (%)   - - 

4.4. Systemically important institution buffer (%)   0.00% - 

4.5. Other systemically important institution buffer (%)   2.00% 1.00% 

 

5. Capital adequacy ratios, including adjustments   
5.1. 

 

Impairment or asset value adjustments for capital adequacy ratio 

purposes - - 

5.2. 

 Common equity Tier 1 Capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments 18.74% 22.49% 

5.3 Tier 1 Capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments 18.74% 22.49% 

5.4. Total capital ratio including line 5.1. adjustments   18.74% 22.49% 

 

 
The Bank was in compliance with minimum requirements (8%) on capital adequacy both in 2018 and 2017. 
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Translation from Latvian original* 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

To the shareholder of AS SEB banka  

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of AS SEB banka (the Bank) and its subsidiaries (the Group) 
as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee dated 11 March 
2019. 

What we have audited 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018; 

 the consolidated income statement for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing adopted in 
the Republic of Latvia (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and the 
ethical requirements of the Law on Audit Services that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in the Republic of Latvia. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code and the 
ethical requirements of the Law on Audit Services.  

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have 
provided to the Group and its related entities are in accordance with the applicable law and 
regulations in Latvia and that we have not provided non-audit services that are prohibited 
under Article 37.6 of Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia. 

The non-audit services that we have provided to the Group, in the period from 1 January 
2018 to 31 December 2018, are disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Our audit approach 

Overview 

  Overall Group materiality: EUR 2,470 thousand. 

 We conducted audit work at three reporting units, all of them 
are in Latvia. 

 Our audit scope covered approximately 97% of the Group’s 
revenues and 99% of the Group’s total assets. 
 

 Expected credit losses on loans. 

 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where 
management made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting 
estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are 
inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management 
override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there 
was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality, including the overall Group materiality for the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, 
helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

Overall Group 
materiality 

Overall materiality applied to the Group was EUR 2,470 
thousand. 

How we determined it 5% of profit before tax 

Rationale for the 
materiality benchmark 
applied 

We chose profit before tax as the base benchmark because, 
in our view, it is the benchmark against which the 
performance of the Group is most commonly measured by 
users of the financial statements, and it is a generally 
accepted benchmark. We chose the threshold of 5%, which 
is consistent with quantitative materiality thresholds used 
for profit-oriented entities in this sector. 

Materiality 

Group 
scoping 

Key audit 
matters 
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We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them the misstatements 
identified during our audit above EUR 230 thousand, as well as the misstatements below that 
amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Expected credit losses on loans 

Refer to Notes 1.8, 1.24, 3.1, 11 and 14 to 
the consolidated financial statements on 
pages 18 – 21, 27 – 33, 36 – 38, 47 and 48 
– 56 respectively.   

We focused on this area because 
management has adopted IFRS 9 
“Financial instruments” in 2018 and 
implemented expected credit loss (ECL) 
model for loans impairment losses.  

Management makes complex and 
subjective judgements over the estimation 
of the ECL. The key features of the ECL 
model include classification of loans to 3 
stages, assessment of credit risk 
parameters and application of forward 
looking information.  

The amount of impairment provision for 
the Group’s loans is based on the model 
calculations taking into consideration the 
exposure at default, probability of default, 
changes in customer credit rating, other 
known risk factors impacting stage of each 
exposure, and taking into account 
estimated future cash flows from the loan 
repayments or sale of collateral (loss given 
default), and ECL adjustments by expected 
impact of future macroeconomic 
scenarios.  

For all loans in Stage 1 and 2 and 
insignificant loans in Stage 3 the expected 
credit losses are calculated using the ECL 
model, while for significant exposures in 
Stage 3 an expert credit judgement is 

We assessed whether the Group’s accounting 
policies in relation to the ECL of loans to 
customers are in compliance with IFRS 9 by 
assessing each significant model component: 
exposure at default, probability of default and 
loss given default, definitions of default and 
significant increase in credit risk, use of 
macroeconomic scenarios. 

We assessed the design and operating 
effectiveness of the controls over relevant loan 
data and ECL calculations. These controls 
included recurring controls over recording of 
loans data in the system, the non-retail loans 
credit file periodic review, retail loans monthly 
scoring/review and related risk class/rating 
assessment, a timely review and update of 
collateral values. We also tested newly 
introduced ECL calculation controls over 
reconciliation of the source data used in the 
calculation, approval of macroeconomic 
scenario, reconciliation of impairment 
balances and review of stage allocation. 

We determined that we could rely on these 
controls for the purpose of our audit.   

Further, we performed detailed testing over 
reliability of loan data, including contract 
dates, risk classes for non-retail exposures and 
risk pool rates for retail exposures, collateral 
values and types, performing/ non performing 
status and other inputs used in ECL 
calculation engine as at 1 January 2018 and 31 
December 2018.  

We also performed detail testing over data 
flows to/from source systems and 
macroeconomic factors to ECL calculator 
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applied to determine if the ECL calculated 
in accordance with the model needs to be 
adjusted. 

IFRS 9 adoption as at 1 January 2018 
resulted in increase of the Group’s equity 
by EUR 6,4 million due to re-
measurements of loans. Net charges for 
expected credit losses for the year ended 
31 December 2018 amounted EUR 3,8 
million for the Group (refer to Note 11). 

system.  

In addition, our quantitative modelling experts 
have performed detailed recalculations for a 
sample of loans and model outputs in order for 
us to obtain comfort that the ECL is calculated 
correctly and that it is in line with our 
expectations.   

We have also audited the ECL adjustments 
related to expert credit judgement for a sample 
of loans. We have verified the rationale of 
these adjustments and also verified the 
appropriateness of the values of collaterals 
used in the assessment of the adjustments.  

 

Based on available evidence we found the 
management assumptions and the ECL 
calculation methods to be reasonable. 

How we tailored our Group audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide 
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the 
structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the 
Group operates. 

We are the statutory auditors of the Bank and all its subsidiaries. For the purposes of the 
Group audit, we performed a full scope audit of SIA SEB Līzings and IPAS SEB Investment 
management.  We covered approximately 97% of the Group’s revenues and 99% of the 
Group’s total assets. 

 

Reporting on other information including the Statement of the Management of 
the Bank  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Statement of the Management of the Bank and the Statement of Responsibility of the 
Management of the Bank, as set out on pages 3 to 8 of the accompanying Annual Report (but 
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information, 
including the Statement of the Management of the Bank and the Statement of Responsibility 
of the Management of the Bank. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

With respect to the Statement of the Management of the Bank, we also performed the 
procedures required by Law on Audit Services. Those procedures include considering 
whether the Statement of the Management of the Bank is prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the applicable legislation.  
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Based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion, in all material 
respects:  

 the information given in the Statement of the Management of the Bank and the 
Statement of Responsibility of the Management of the Bank for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and 

 the Statement of the Management of the Bank has been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Financial and Capital Market Commission Regulation No. 46 
“Regulation on preparation of the annual report and consolidated annual report of 
credit institutions, investment brokerage companies and investment management 
companies”. 

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material 
misstatements in the Statement of the Management of the Bank and the Statement of 
Responsibility of the Management of the Bank that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this respect. 

 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  

Appointment  

We were first appointed as auditors of the Group on 1 January 1999. Our appointment has 
been renewed annually by shareholder’s resolution representing a total period of 
uninterrupted engagement appointment of 20 years. Our appointment for the year ended 31 
December 2018 was by resolution of general meeting of shareholders dated 28 March 2018. 
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